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– Foreword –


.


Robin Hanbury-Tenison OBE


Certain literary prerequisites are essential for any good adventure book. Pre-eminently, it must have a proper character at its heart who can express his or her experiences with a clarity and euphony that transports the reader into a vivid external world. Once upon a time, the mountain literature of mountain- lovers was considered finer than that of mountaineers largely because the mountaineers tended to be over-modest in recording their experiences; were uncomfortable in expressing their more intimate emotions, thoughts and fears and disinclined to admit their true feelings towards their companions. Contemporary mountaineering writers have tended to shed such inhibitions, though professional mountaineers and guides will usually bear their clientele in mind before expressing themselves unreservedly.


John Harding’s evocative and atmospheric mountaineering autobiography, covering a period of over sixty years, fulfils my prescribed literary criteria as he steers a deft course between candour and sensitivity without pulling his punches and mercifully eschewing political correctness. His powerful narrative not only celebrates the grandeur and spirit of the mountains, but also imparts a lyrical feeling for landscape interwoven with acute historical insights. His many expeditions on foot and ski have covered unusual ranges such as Turkish Hakkiari and the Yemen which are now virtually inaccessible, while some of the more familiar in Europe and East Africa have changed dramatically in character during his lifetime. Others, though easily accessible, remain relatively unknown to the commonalty of British mountaineers.


Given my own passion for championing tribal peoples’ rights through Survival International, I read with particular interest John’s experiences with and sympathies for the tribal and mountain peoples of Iran, Turkey and Central Asia who, despite innumerable buffetings, still survive and broadly maintain their traditional way of life.


By his own admission, John is essentially a mountain wanderer who has sought out distant horizons. This book reflects his enthusiasms; recreates the challenges of mountaineering and describes with discernment and good humour the complexities and characters of the many companions who accompanied him on his odyssey. Many fine photographs complement the text and John’s delicate hand-drawn maps add freshness and individuality to the whole. This impelling story, modestly told, proclaims the spirit of adventure and deserves to become a classic of its kind.









– Preface –


.


The frontispiece photograph of Sir Julian Huxley’s famous book From an Antique Land depicts the crumbling pillars of Palmyra’s Grand Colonnade, still upstanding seventeen centuries after the desert city’s glory days as capital of Queen Zenobia’s caravan empire. Huxley’s seminal account of his 1948 visit to the Middle East had served as a companion guide to the Cambridge North Persian Expedition 1956 and had prompted our 200 miles diversionary drive across the Syrian desert to witness for ourselves this magnificent site of antiquity. As a twenty-one year old, that first expedition remains etched on memory as was the admonition that closes Huxley’s book, ‘It is one of the duties and privileges of man to testify to his experience’. I took this to heart by maintaining the diaries that underpin my story of sixty years of mountaineering as recorded in this book.


Whether these personal experiences justify publication is another matter particularly when compared with the feats of skill, daring and endurance that are the stuff of modern mountaineering sagas. I might have survived the odd scrape, but have touched no voids nor ventured into the thinnest air. Yet mountaineering embraces a broad church and what scarcely raises the pulse of one, stretches the limits of another. Happily, the quest for adventure is common to all at whatever level of achievement.


My fascination with mountains goes back to early boyhood when, as a five-year old, my school was evacuated in 1940 to Dolaucothi, a Georgian mansion set deep in the wilds of Carmarthenshire. This sowed a seed that prompted my adolescent winter excursions into the hills of south Wales, then virtually deserted save for the occasional mounted shepherd rounding up his flocks. The passing of time may add perspective for when I came to climbing in the early 1950s, the Alpine Climbing Group had only just been formed to bring British alpine standards into line with those of Europe and match the exploits of such as Cassin, Gervasutti, Rébuffat and Buhl. My mountaineering bible was then Winthrop Young’s Mountaincraft; my hyper-expensive Robert Lawrie climbing boots were nailed with clinkers rather than rubber-soled ‘Vibrams’, and ‘Viking’ nylon climbing ropes were only just coming on to the market. Improvements in equipment and technique, training, skills and attitude have since revolutionised mountaineering.


Almost a third of this book is about ski mountaineering, that combination of skiing and mountaineering that John Hunt once described as producing ‘the complete mountaineer’, but which still remains the Cinderella of British mountaineering. As a latecomer to the sport, I came to realise that it offered scope for exploratory winter mountain travel in the little-frequented ranges of Turkey, Greece and Spain despite the restraints of employment, limited holidays and family responsibilities. Ski mountaineering was to become my main mountaineering focus so I make no apology for touching on some of the contentious issues to which it gave rise when I became involved in its promotion as president of the Alpine Ski Club and Eagle Ski Club and a vice-president of the Alpine Club.


Mountaineering at whatever level has peaks and troughs, successes and setbacks, triumphs and tragedies. Over a wide canvas, I have tried to convey something of the grandeur of the mountain world and the diversity of its peoples as well as paying tribute to less familiar names such as Sidney Nowill who fostered my love for Turkey’s ranges; Robin Fedden in whose steps I often seemed destined to follow, and Colin Wyatt, a forgotten pioneer ski mountaineer. I have also recounted some family excursions that gave more pleasure than any others, as well as a selection of treks in the Himalaya and Central Asia. Above all, I aim to commemorate the memory of friends past and present whose support and camaraderie made these adventures worthwhile.


I owe sincere thanks to Robin Hanbury-Tenison, a peerless explorer and conservationist, for writing the foreword; to Johanna Merz, editor of the Alpine Journal from 1992-1998, for her wise counsel; to Tim Fearnside, formerly lecturer in cartography, Swansea University for his technical assistance in the reproduction of my hand-drawn maps; to Bill Norton, Julian Mustoe, Keith MacDougall for authorising the publication of their Cambridge North Persian Expedition photographs and to David Williams for his (No. 123); to Colliers of Swansea for photographic reproduction; to Martin Shoesmith of No Duff Stuff for scanning my slides and prints, and to my publisher Jon Barton of Vertebrate for his advice and encouragement. Finally, to my daughters Emma, Victoria and Joanna for their literary criticism and particularly to my wife Georgina for her companionship in the hills and her forbearance at the hearth.









– Chapter 1 –


The Persian Expedition


Cambridge Venturers


‘So may we assume, Mr Norton, that you and your companions have come here properly equipped with boots and ropes to climb our mountains?’


Colonel Kachpiss of the Royal Iranian Army was still smiling, but now only half-joking. At this critical stage of what had become an increasingly embarrassing interview, he gave the impression that we might be wasting his time.


On that sultry evening of 16 July 1956, His Imperial Majesty, Mohammad Reza Pahlavi, the Shahanshah of Iran and ‘Light of the Aryans’, was firmly ensconced on the Peacock Throne. Six of us Cambridge undergraduates were seated less comfortably on hard, wooden chairs in a windowless basement room in a grey, concrete building in the heart of Tehran. Only three days before, we had arrived in Iran’s capital having driven 4,500 miles overland from Cambridge. Barely recovered from an epic twenty-two-day journey bedevilled by punctures, written-off tyres, overturns, arrests and incident, we had been summoned to appear before the Mountaineering Federation of Iran to explain why we wanted to climb in the country’s highest mountain range, the Elburz.


Led by a mute guard through labyrinthine corridors whose white-washed walls were lined with sepia photographs of beefy Iranian weightlifters, the building seemed deserted save for one room in which a group of heavily bearded men were playing chess. Was this some sort of Savak interrogation centre? Hopefully not, for the room in which we sat nervously awaiting the Colonel’s arrival sipping tepid Pepsi-colas, was dominated by an aerial photograph of Mount Demavend, which filled an entire wall. At last, the double doors burst open and the man himself strode in followed by a phalanx of uniformed officers to break the tension.


‘Good evening gentlemen’, said the Colonel in clipped English.


‘My name is Colonel Kachpiss. You are welcome guests of the Iranian Mountaineering Federation. Let our meeting begin!’


With that, he sat down and opened proceedings by banging his fist down on the table.


1956 was the year in which Khrushchev publicly denounced Stalin; when President Nasser seized the Suez Canal; and when the Red Army invaded Hungary. It was also the year of the Cambridge North Persian Expedition when British atlases and Winston Churchill still referred to Iran as ‘Persia’, the land of Cyrus, Darius and Xerxes against whom the Greeks had fought their historic battles at Marathon, Plataea, and Salamis. And had I not met Bill Norton the previous year on that Cambridge University Mountaineering Club’s (CUMC) Easter meet at the Steall Hut in the shadow of Ben Nevis, I might never have gone to Persia.


Most of those attending that meet were mountaineering novices making do with ex-army battledress trousers, anoraks and ice axes. But one immensely tall man dressed in pukka climbing kit looked every inch the part. Back in the hut after our third and final attempt to bag a blizzard-swept Ben Nevis I ventured, ‘That’s a mighty fine anorak you’re wearing Bill. Looks as if it must have seen some service.’


‘Actually, it’s a parka’, he replied loftily, his nostrils twitching. ‘It was my father’s. He wore it on Everest.’


Everest! The very name resonated even more sonorously in 1955 than it does today for only two years before, John Hunt’s successful coronation year Everest expedition had captured the world’s imagination. Having only just met Bill, I had never before associated him with his famous father General E.F. Norton DSO, MC, the leader of the 1924 Everest expedition. Mallory and Irvine’s fatal summit bid is the stuff of legend, but almost forgotten is Norton’s feat of climbing to within a thousand feet of the summit, solo and without oxygen, a record unsurpassed for another fifty-four years. Bill was then aged twenty-one. I was a year younger. I didn’t exactly doff my balaclava, but took respectful notice.


Early the following year, Bill invited me to his rooms in Magdalene. We hadn’t seen much of each other since that fateful Steall meet, but over a customary glass of sherry, he came to the point.


‘I’m organising a mountaineering expedition to the Elburz this summer. Just wondered whether you might you be interested in joining us. We’ve already got four starters, but need a couple more climbers to make the party up to six. Plans are pretty well advanced already.’


Nonplussed, I could think of nothing to say except: ‘Who else is in the party, Bill?’


‘Julian Mustoe who’s here at Magdalene with me; Keith MacDougall and Bruce Anderson are both at Caius reading natural sciences and will add some scientific credibility. The fifth member is likely to be David Cook, a regular soldier reading engineering at St John’s.’


‘I don’t know any of them but what’s likely to be involved?’


At this, Bill came in as if briefing for a military operation.


‘Our main objective is to undertake mountain exploration in two little-known areas of the Elburz. First, we’ll tackle the Takht-i-Sulaiman group, some sixty miles northeast of Tehran, which has glaciers and alpine-style peaks. Secondly, we’ll move across to the Orim Niswa massif, about 200 miles to the east which the latest Bartholomew map puts at 18,000 feet. That may be an exaggeration, but I’m assured on good authority that the area’s virtually unexplored. A subsidiary aim is to do scientific and natural-history research. We’ll be travelling out to Iran overland through Western Europe, the Balkans and Turkey and coming home via Iraq, Syria, Jordan and the Lebanon. The return journey’s a bit of a cultural swan, but definitely worth the effort. We’re aiming to leave Cambridge on 21 June and be back in time for the autumn term. Does this appeal?’


It certainly did and I was flattered to be asked. But puzzled too. Why me? My own climbing experience was very limited whereas Bill was the scion of a distinguished climbing family. Apart from his illustrious father, his grandfather had been Alfred Wills, President of the Alpine Club when Whymper first climbed the Matterhorn in 1865. Bill himself had already climbed in the Alps and had another 150 members of the CUMC to choose from at a time when Cambridge climbers took themselves very seriously. Modern alpine routes were no longer regarded with awe and although the CUMC Journal’s Climbing Notes grading of Everest’s South-West Ridge as ‘Difficult (Hard) with Hillary and Tenzing leading through and the rest of the party unable to follow’ was preposterous, the spirit of adventure was genuine. This was not the moment to admit to Bill that I had very little mountaineering experience, so I asked him to give me a few days to think it over.


My father had captained both Cambridge and Wales at Rugby, but had no real interest in mountaineering and although my mother’s family were hearty, outdoor types used to tramping about the Welsh hills and had some acquaintance with the Swiss Alps, none of them had climbed a serious mountain. Even so, mountains had always held a fascination for me from early childhood. To avoid the blitz, my primary school had been evacuated from Swansea in 1939 to Dolaucothi, a Georgian mansion in deepest Carmarthenshire which had its own Roman gold mine. Almost my first six-year-old memories were of those wild games of Fox and Geese we played in the surrounding hills. A year later, when confined to my TB sick bed at my grandparents’ house near Hirwaun, I would gaze across the Cynon Valley to Talcyn y Byd, ‘The World’s Forehead’, crowning the scarp of the Glamorgan Uplands which, in my mind’s eye, was always dusted with snow.


As a teenager, I had made winter excursions into the hills of South Wales imagining myself as an embryonic mountaineer. But my first proper climbing experience was during National Service with the Welsh Guards at the Guards Training Battalion. The padre, the Reverend Fred Jenkins, was known to be a mountaineer so I persuaded him to take me for a week’s climbing in the Cairngorms. Like General Charles Bruce, leader of the 1922 Everest expedition, Fred was a native of Aberdare. He never spoke about his native hearth, but was a member of the Alpine Club and seemed to have climbed everywhere. Although Fred had served with the 6th Airborne Division as a parachutist, I didn’t doubt that I was more than fit to accompany this forty-year-old, undemonstrative cleric into the hills. As a nineteen-year-old busily training guardsmen for battle and captaining both the Battalion’s rugby and athletics teams, I thought myself a very fine fellow. The quartermaster issued me with a parachutist’s parka and I got the camp’s cobbler to hobnail a pair of standard-issue boots around both its soles and welts. Fred almost had a fit when he saw what had been done to the boots. Nonetheless in early March 1954, we caught the overnight sleeper from Euston to Aviemore.


I have never forgotten my excitement on first seeing snowdrifts piled twenty-feet high on either side of the Drumochter Pass and my first view of the Cairngorms. At that time, there was no proper road access into the range from Aviemore and merely to reach the Lairig Ghru, the great pass that splits the Cairngorms in two, involved an eight-mile hike. Throughout that week, we never once saw the sun and while climbing Einich Cairn, Cairn Toul, Braeriach and Ben Macdui, blizzards often forced us to crawl to avoid being blown away. The experience left me with an abiding respect for Highland winter conditions and for Fred’s fitness, mountain craft and navigational skills. His effortless stride left me struggling in his wake and, at the end of each day, I had to haul myself hand over hand up the Aviemore Hotel’s banisters to get myself to bed. I owe a lot to the unflappable, good-humoured Fred who embodied the wisdom of an Old Testament prophet without the homilies. Though for many years our paths diverged, they came together again when he was still the Alpine Ski Club’s longest serving honorary secretary when I became its president.


That autumn, I went up to Trinity College, Cambridge and joined the CUMC. The novices meet in North Wales that December was undertaken in dreadful weather and climbing slippery granite in nailed boots did not inspire mountain fervour. However, I had already met a fellow spirit at Trinity called Neil Macpherson who had learned to climb and ski during his National Service in Austria. We agreed to join the CUMC’s forthcoming Easter meet at the Steall Hut after first getting fit on his father Ian’s 30,000-acre Attadale estate in the western Highlands. This conveniently had two of its own ‘Munros’ (Scottish peaks of over 3,000 feet as catalogued by the nineteenth century baronet Sir Hugh Munro) on which Neil had stalked deer since boyhood.


We practised crevasse-rescue techniques hanging from the boughs of a large Scots pine and tested the efficacy of the new-fangled Tarbuck knot by hurling ourselves off a near-vertical slope within rescue distance of the house. After climbing a brace of snow couloirs in the nearby Applecross Hills, we joined the Steall Meet and notched up An Garbanach, Stob Ban and a blizzard-swept Ben Nevis. Back at Attadale, we decided to make a four-day circuit of the clutch of remote Munros that surround Loch Monar. It was so cold that winter, that Loch Calavie was frozen solid enough for us to take a shortcut across the ice before traversing the five-mile ridge of An Riabhachan to the summit of Sgurr na Lapaich, one of the most inaccessible Munros. Stumbling into Braulen Lodge long after dark to pick up the key for a night in the deserted Braulen Bothy, the weathered resident stalker grasped Neil’s hand, ‘Ah, Mr Neil, now it’s good to see ye now! And how might ye be keeping?’


As we moved off into the night, Neil whispered to me, ‘It must be ten years since I last stalked with that man.’


The Sgurr na Lapaich traverse had left our feet so blistered that we forwent the planned west Monar circuit and limped back to Attadale.


Neil was my first and last climbing companion. Our friendship has lasted to this day.


Those Scottish winter sorties gave me the confidence to apply to Professor A.C. Pigou for the annual mountain travel grant he generously offered needy Cambridge undergraduates. Pigou, who had held the chair of political economy at Cambridge for thirty-five years, had successively taught, opposed and eventually come round to supporting Keynes and his economic theories. As the ‘patron saint of Kings’ climbers’, he had encouraged and promoted Wilfred Noyce’s climbing career and it was his grant that enabled me to finish off my 1955 long vacation in Scandinavia with a week’s wanderlust in Norway’s Jotunheim Mountains with two very sporting Norwegian girls. Skinny dips in icy fiords and saunters up Norway’s two highest peaks, Galdhopiggen and Glittertind, hardly qualified me for Bill’s Elburz expedition, but whatever doubts I had about my climbing credentials, a more serious hurdle was money.


When Bill first invited me to join his expedition, I had hesitantly raised this delicate subject.


‘Naturally, an expedition like this is bound to be expensive,’ said Bill airily.


‘But we’ve already got promises of generous financial support from the Mount Everest Foundation, the Royal Geographical Society, the Royal Central Asian Society and the British Museum of Natural History, as well as from Magdalene and Caius. Julian’s been negotiating free petrol throughout the journey with major oil companies and I’m banking on British firms to supply most of the medical equipment and food.’


‘But surely, this can’t be a free ride?’


‘No, of course not. Let me show you the most recent estimates to put you in the picture.’


With that he produced a four-page, typescript memorandum headed Cambridge North Persian Expedition detailing the expedition’s expenses ‘before’ and ‘after’ including the cost of two jeeps and trailers; hire of War Office camping and surveying equipment; food and petrol; transport, mule hire and insurance. The total came to exactly £1,222 19s 6d.


‘But what about assets?’


‘It’s all in there,’ he replied with a slight sniff. ‘Apart from contributions from mountaineering and scientific funds, there’ll be plenty of cash when we get back from the resale of vehicles and other equipment as well as fees from newspaper and magazine articles. Naturally, we’ll each have to chip in with personal contributions which I’ve set at £75 a head. This brings total assets up to £1,071 leaving a £153 14s 6d deficit which I’m confident that we can make up in due time.’


I made a quick calculation that my overall contribution was going to be at least £100 (£2,000 in today’s money) and could see no way of finding this before 21st June.


‘Let’s go through the detail Bill. Can’t we cut down on some of these costs. For example, why are the jeeps seen as a “danger factor”?’


‘Obviously, we’ve had to economise somewhere along the line. We can’t possibly afford new vehicles, so Julian’s buying two ex-US Air Force jeeps with trailers to carry our equipment, spare petrol and the free food, which should reduce expenses en route. Anyway, if push comes to shove, we can always cut down on food and with careful driving will avoid breakdowns.’


‘I don’t quite see how we can necessarily avoid breakdowns with second-hand jeeps. And what’s this item, ‘Eighty donkey days’?’


‘Oh that!’ chortled Bill. ‘When Julian and I went before the MEF Board last November, John Hunt asked pointedly whether we were satisfied with our porterage estimates. I almost died of embarrassment when Julian piped up with: ‘But Sir John, this isn’t a Himalayan expedition!’


‘However, no harm done apparently. Even so, I’ve bumped up donkey-days just in case. At the end of the day, everything depends on the MEF grant. Luckily, we’ve got at least one influential friend in court, Sir Claremont Skrine, who’s agreed to be the expedition’s patron along with an eminent Cambridge Persian scholar, Dr Laurence Lockhart.’


‘But who is Sir Claremont Skrine?’


‘An old friend of my father’s actually, and very well respected by the MEF people. Knows Persia like the back of his hand and all the Persian VIPs who really matter. As a matter of fact, it’s Sir Claremont we’ve got to thank for the original Elburz idea.’


‘Give me more time to think about it, Bill. Money’s my problem.’


Money was indeed my problem. Nonetheless, I was determined to get to Persia some way or another. To bone up on the Elburz, I read Freya Stark’s The Valleys of the Assassins describing her 1930 and 1931 Elburz journeys. Although she never got closer than five miles of Takht-i-Sulaiman, her fuzzy sepia photograph of the mountain (which she compared to Switzerland’s Weisshorn) taken from the Salambar Pass, and her retelling of the legend of how King Solomon lured the Queen of Sheba to its icy summit to share his bed rather than freeze to death, lent enchantment to the peak that is still called ‘Solomon’s Throne’ to this day.


But it wasn’t just for the sake of a mountain that I wanted to join Bill’s expedition. Social mythology has it that the 1950s were a dreary prelude to the swinging 1960s. We didn’t see it that way. Money was tight, food rationing had only just ended and the future was clouded by the threat of nuclear annihilation. Yet these were our salad days. Cambridge’s hallowed traditions and conventions were generally respected and petty restrictions, unimaginable today, cheerfully accepted, at least in principle. Work was also taken less seriously than today because postgraduate employment was almost guaranteed. Self-confidence, imbued by a school regime of prefect rule and fierce competition, had been bolstered by two years of national, and sometimes active, service. The moving spirit of the time was adventure and a form of collective ‘expeditionitis’ had seized Cambridge. I was determined not to be left out, so when my father generously stumped up £75 and an MEF cheque for £400 came through the post, I signed on and took over from Bill the medical officer and treasurer slots.


Today, £400 is equivalent to £6,000. The Mount Everest Foundation had only been established the previous year from the successful 1953 Everest Expedition’s surplus funds ‘to encourage, or support … expeditions for the exploration of the mountain regions of the earth’. In 1955–1956, twenty-four other expeditions had applied for grants including Charles Evans’ 1955 Kangchenjunga expedition and Vivian Fuchs’ Trans-Antarctic expedition. The Cambridge North Persian expedition (or ‘CNPE’ as we now called ourselves) was a sprat, yet we got as much as several other more worthy expeditions thanks to the MEF’s absurdly generous policy of paying out twenty-five per cent of its accumulated fund that year.


I was anxious to prove my worth as treasurer, but Bill’s meticulous estimates already bore the stamp of a future treasury mandarin. The medical officer slot offered more scope because generous donations from drug companies had created a medicine mountain sufficient to equip a dozen high-altitude expeditions. Sir Alan Rook, the senior health officer at Cambridge, helped reduce this to a manageable first aid kit and advised that our only serious health problems were likely to be dysentery and malaria. Bill’s antidote to dysentery, by digging holes in the ground as a form of ‘cat sanitation’, did nothing to prevent my having to make several post-expedition visits to the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine to cure amoebic dysentery. Of greater personal concern was a persistent pain in my right hip. When I consulted Professor Trueta, the Nuffield Professor of Orthopaedic Surgery at Oxford about it, his prognosis was that the hip was deteriorating as a result of my childhood TB. His last words were, ‘You must get this seen to as soon as possible. I strongly advise you not to embark on this expedition.’


Eric Shipton, Britain’s most famous inter-war Himalayan mountaineer, reckoned that any expedition worth doing could be planned on the back of an envelope. Ours occupied a fat file with Bill issuing a stream of lists and directives that covered everything from stores, cooking kit, personal equipment reminders, visas, passports and vaccinations. His Suggested Budget for Bulk Food detailing all foodstuffs required throughout included a sixty-five word English/Turkish Culinary Extract supplement. His Contacts and Addresses List named twenty-five British consulates likely to be useful en route and over twenty of Tehran’s most prominent VIPs including HE Husain Ala, Iran’s prime minister, and HE Amir Assadollah Alam, the minister of the interior and the Shah’s closest confidante.


The principal source of this private and confidential Persian information was Sir Claremont Skrine who, spurred on by his father’s reproof that ‘I would rather you dead than undistinguished’ followed the old man into the Indian Civil Service, once described by Lord Curzon as that run by men ‘whose hands uphold the noblest fabric yet reared by the genius of a conquering nation.’ The very embodiment of empire, Skrine’s distinguished career had included military and political service in both India and Persia with a spell in Baluchistan where he had particularly relished the task of ‘raider chasing’. In 1922, accompanied by his dauntless wife Doris, his forty-nine-day crossing of the Pamirs to take up his appointment as British consul-general in Kashgar had earned him the Royal Geographical Society’s prestigious Gill Memorial Medal. Without Sir Claremont’s patronage, the CNPE might never have got off the ground, so it was not without justification that he had written to the British Ambassador in Tehran, Sir Roger Stevens, to say that he had ‘more or less sponsored the Cambridge University Expedition to the Elburz … (and that) if a diplomatic disaster ensues, the fault will be mine.’


Skrine’s anticipation of ‘a diplomatic disaster’ was prescient. He might well have known more about Iran than any other living Englishman, but his role in escorting the pro-Nazi Reza Shah, founder of the Pahlavi dynasty, into exile to Mauritius in 1941 after the allies had forced his abdication, had made him a bitter enemy of Reza’s son Shah Mohammad, Iran’s reigning monarch. And as one of that generation of British diplomats held responsible by the Iranians for engineering the fall of the country’s radical Prime Minister Dr Mossadeq after his nationalisation of the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company in 1951, Skrine was deeply mistrusted by the current Iranian establishment.


Anglo-Iranian relations had been so badly fractured by the Mossadeq affair that the Shah had insisted that the diplomatic status quo ante would only be restored on condition that none of the old-guard British diplomats would ever serve in Iran again. As a result, when diplomatic relations were eventually resumed in late 1953, Sir Roger Stevens, previously Britain’s ambassador to Sweden, was appointed as a new-broom British ambassador to Iran in February 1954 uncontaminated by any previous Middle Eastern experience.


For undisclosed reasons, Skrine had, in his own words, ‘blotted his copybook’ the previous year and caused Stevens ‘no little embarrassment.’ To compound this, he had assured Bill, without first seeking Stevens’s permission, that the CNPE was at liberty to camp in the grounds of the British Embassy’s summer residence at Gulhak. When Stevens got wind of this, he wrote to Skrine ‘that although an exception would be made in this case, in future years … it will be impossible to provide such facilities … a point of which you would perhaps wish to be aware.’


Stevens’ rebuff only reached Skrine three days before our departure for Iran. By then, Skrine had already written to Stevens asking him to instruct the Iranian minister of the interior, ‘To have explicit instructions sent to the customs authorities at Maku and the Police at Tabriz to let through the equipment in question … (and) check up nearer the time on what has actually been done.’ The equipment in question included expensive Ministry of Defence surveying equipment, Keith’s rifle and ammunition, and a Contax camera lent by the War Office for David to photograph strategic bridges en route. It is not known whether Sir Roger ever replied.


Despite his long-time membership of the Alpine Club and service on the 1952 Himalayan committee, Sir Claremont had little direct experience of climbing in the Elburz. There was, however, another Englishman eminently qualified to advise, namely Douglas Busk, an experienced mountaineer, who was currently serving as British ambassador to Ethiopia. During the 1930s, while posted to the Tehran Embassy, Busk had twice reached the summit of Takht-i-Sulaiman’s higher neighbour Alam Kuh (4,826 metres), only to find his way to Takht-i-Sulaiman itself barred by Alam Kuh’s seemingly impassable, two-mile-long north face.


Busk had written up his Elburz adventures in three pre-war Alpine Journals and in his book The Delectable Mountains, published in 1946. This included an account of Dr Hans Bobek’s 1936 German expedition and their pioneer ascents of both Takht-i-Sulaiman and Alam Kuh’s North-East Buttress. Busk had concluded that ‘the exploration of this group may now be considered completed.’ However, by the time we had taken the import of this on board, the MEF grant had already come through and it was far too late to change course. As if to rub it in, only three weeks before our departure, the May 1956 issue of the Alpine Journal published an account of the French Himalayan explorer Bernard Pierre’s 1954 Franco-Iranian Elburz expedition which had repeated the 1936 German routes and added a serious new ice climb. Pierre’s crumbs of comfort were that Takht-i-Sulaiman’s little-known western link had ‘three or four summits of interest’ and that the Elburz ‘offered mountaineers a unique opportunity to travel and return enriched.’ If Bill’s hopes had been dashed, he didn’t show it. And no one, it seemed, had ever set foot on the 18,000-foot Orim Nizwa, fully 2,000-feet higher than Mont Blanc and surely ours for the taking.


Outward Bound


On 14 April 1956, Julian took delivery of two ‘hard-hat’ ex-US Airforce jeeps, registration numbers SXB 205 and SXB 206, thus swallowing up in a single gulp the whole of the MEF’s £400 grant. The original jeep, or ‘general purpose vehicle’, was first launched in 1940 in response to the US Army’s wake-up call for a robust, lightweight, all-purpose vehicle that ‘does everything, goes everywhere, is as faithful as a dog, as strong as a mule, and as agile as a goat’. Unloaded, ours went like bombs, but seating was cramped, especially for Bill’s six foot five inches, and as the foot brake had no servo-assistance, strong quadriceps were essential when the handbrakes failed, as they usually did. Designed to run at low speeds without overheating, two types of radiator were available. One for cold weather conditions and the other for hot. Deep into Turkey, we discovered that ours were fitted with the cold-weather version.


At 6 a.m. on 21 June 1956 in Magdalene College’s tiny riverside car park, Bill and David were still arguing the toss whether there was enough room to take the twenty-eight pound barrel of honey kindly donated by a Cambridgeshire farmer. Over the past three weeks, SXB 205 and SXB 206 had been repaired, modified, re-fitted, wire-brushed, sand-papered, under-coated inside, outside and underneath, and painted Cambridge Blue over all with the insignia ‘CNPE 1956’ inscribed in black lettering on each door. An hour later, as the sun rode high above the spires of St Johns’ College, SXB’s crew, Julian, Bruce and I led off with me waving a choked goodbye to Hanne, my Danish girlfriend of the past year and my first true love. Keith, standing expectantly on the parapet of Magdalene Bridge, had to wait awhile to film the expedition’s departure because 205’s load was so heavy that it needed first gear and low ratio to surmount its barely perceptible humpback.


Due to early hiccups en route, the Lord Mayor of London’s mansion house farewell reception for the CNPE that morning was a close-run thing. Sir Roger Ackroyd showed no visible surprise when Bill presented himself in a tropical jacket, tweed breeches and thick woollen stockings. A flight from Lydd Airport deposited us at Le Touquet where Purfina’s Boulogne depot provided the CNPE’s first free petrol and second champagne reception of the day. While press photographers busily snapped away, Purfina stickers were plastered over both vehicles. Later, on that balmy mid-summer evening, our tents were pitched in the fair fields of Picardy. It was almost the only day for the next four months when travel arrangements went more or less according to plan.


In 1956, the 4,500-mile overland journey to Tehran was no longer a novelty. But visa formalities had taken months to sort out and there was endless scope for trouble along the way. Yugoslavia was a bleak, unfriendly communist state while travel through Turkey, NATO’s eastern bulwark against Russia, had required a sheaf of military permits. But as forewarned by the Foreign Office, the most serious troubles spots were likely to be Greece and the Arab countries of Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon and Syria. In Greece, anti-British feeling was running high on account of Britain’s intention to move its Middle East land forces HQ from the Suez Canal to Cyprus whose predominantly Greek population was clamouring for Enosis, ‘union with Greece’. The signing of the Baghdad Pact to maintain Britain’s authority in the area in March 1955 with Britain and Turkey (Greece’s historical enemy) its main signatories, had lent popular Greek support to EOKA, a guerrilla campaign in Cyprus which led to Field Marshall Harding’s appointment to stifle the rebellion. By the summer of 1956 EOKA terrorist activity against both Turkish Cypriots and British Cyprus based forces was rife. Potentially more serious was the virulent anti-British campaign that had been stoked up by the Egyptian hero and British bogeyman General Nasser whose highly effective brand of revolutionary pan-Arab nationalism and avowed intention of purging Arab countries from imperialist, and particularly British, influence, was reaching fever pitch in the Arab world. In April 1956, the Jeddah Military Pact between Egypt, Saudi-Arabia and Yemen was designed to consolidate Nasser’s political and military position and those with the vision to see, anticipated that the nationalisation of the Suez Canal would be an inevitable progression.


These potential pitfalls apart, the necessity to economise had created a ‘Catch 22’ situation. Thanks to the generosity of ninety-two British firms, we had over-burdened the trailers with freebies and tinned food when eating-out for a pittance would have wasted less cooking-time; cut down weight; and ultimately been cheaper. The boon of free petrol along the route also had its drawbacks, as the business of having to re-fuel at specified stations on set dates and times restricted freedom of movement. Once beyond Western Europe the ruts, potholes and corrugations of the unsurfaced roads that stretched from Yugoslavia to Tehran and back made for a deafeningly rough-ride. Yet the most serious problems that were to bug the expedition throughout were broken trailer towing hooks, degraded tyres and, above all, the wrong type of radiators.


Our troubles began on the second day out when 206 narrowly avoided a head-on crash when its trailer began to wobble uncontrollably before overturning in the middle of the road just short of Nancy. A friendly garage man patched it up, but the following day, Bill noticed this same trailer passing him on the outside having slipped its towing hook. Repairs to the first of thirty-nine punctures revealed that years spent in an army surplus dump had perished the rubber and in some cases glued the tyres on to the wheel rims. The consequences of having cold-weather radiators first became apparent on crossing the Austrian Alps by the Potzen Pass when steam began to billow out from both of them. From then on, the endless stoppages caused by over-boiling completely threw Bill’s schedule and made both the outward and inward journeys chapters of incident, accident and exhausting night drives.


The driving routine was two hours on, followed by two in the front passenger seat acting as navigator and two at the back for a quick kip – if you were lucky. The incessant din made normal conversation impossible and the evening ritual of finding a suitable camp site became a source of friction, Bill’s 206 insisted on keeping to a prescribed daily mileage even if this meant camping after dark whereas 205 preferred early morning starts and camping by daylight. The compromise usually adopted produced the worst of all worlds. Throughout the 700-mile journey through Yugoslavia, fresh food was only available in local markets and was then sold out by dawn. The wads of devalued Yugoslav dinars I had smuggled inside my climbing boots, fearful of imprisonment or worse on discovery, only once came in useful at Skopje’s solitary garage when Julian made the mistake of disputing the extortionate price demanded for a new battery. He smartly changed his mind when the garage gates were slammed shut and a posse of burly mechanics threatened him.


Greece had food in plenty, but EOKA-inspired anti-British terrorist violence had spilt over to the mainland. On entering Salonika, the patrons of a roadside cafe leapt to their feet shouting and fist-waving on seeing our GB number plates. While shopping in the town’s market, a rabble of jeering children followed at heel chanting ‘Inglisi, Inglisi’. At Alexandroupolis, a politically sensitive town bordering Turkey, Bill drove 206 straight into a police speed trap. A hostile crowd jostled us at the Purfina filling station and daubed EOKA slogans in white paint over both jeeps.


The Greco/Turkish frontier marked the boundary between two profoundly different worlds. On the Greek side, men and women were still dancing and laughing at midnight in a brightly lit roadside cafe to the strains of a zither. At the Turkish passport control office, located in the faded fin de siècle waiting room of Edirne’s railway station still decorated with dust-encased palm trees and aspidistra, a full-length portrait of Mustapha Kemal Ataturk in tailcoat and white tie glared balefully down on Turkey’s newest arrivals. Old-style Ottoman bureaucratic obstruction ensured that we only got two hours’ sleep that night.


Modern Turkey has the fastest growing economy in Europe, but in 1956 it was a mere shell of the once-great Ottoman empire whose frontiers had stretched from the Indian Ocean to the Atlantic. Then as now, it was NATO’s front line against Soviet Union, but tourism was an alien concept and for much of the 140-mile-long drive to Istanbul, a succession of military camps, tank concentrations, and artillery installations lined the road. For the next ten days, the most familiar sight was that of frozen-faced, shaven-headed Turkish soldiers manning sentry posts at the entrance to every town and on every bridge.


In 1956 Istanbul’s population stood at 1,500,000 with its great mosques more like run-down museums. Today, its population is estimated at 26,000,000 and this former capital of Byzantium and the Eastern Roman empire has once again become the ‘City of the World’s Desire’. That night, our concern was not sightseeing, but to find a campsite. In doing so, we inadvertently strayed into a military zone far up the Bosphorus. We were arrested at gunpoint and were lucky to get away with nothing more than an hour-long interrogation before a Turkish army tribunal and another sleepless night.


Ten days after leaving Cambridge, the CNPE’s two jeeps and trailers boarded the Bosphorus ferry to Asia and began a week-long journey across the Anatolian sub-continent. Along the way, a foot-long centipede found its way into Bill’s sleeping bag; poisonous steppe spiders interrupted supper as they crashed around in the crockery; and a half-crazed shepherd boy threatened me with his knife. On the road to Kayseri, which follows the course of the Persian Royal Road built 2,500 years ago to link Susa to Sardis, 205 went 100 miles off course imagining that the great salt lake of Tuz Golu was a mirage. Forced to make a night-drive to reconnect with 206, our trailer overturned at the edge of a steep embankment smashing two of the precious British Museum collecting boxes and leaving in its wake a trail of dented kettles, punctured petrol stoves and burst cartons of porridge oats, flour and rice. Julian welded back the trailer’s broken towing hook over one of the damaged petrol stoves and as dawn was breaking, we at last caught up with 206 for the first time in twenty-four hours. Parked near a cluster of low-slung, mud houses surrounded by a swarm of light-fingered ragamuffin children, their trailer had also overturned and blown two tyres in the process. They had been unable to move because 205 had Julian, the expedition’s mechanic, and the full repair tool kit.


Past the snow-capped volcanic cone of Ergiyas Dag floating phantom-like above the Cappadocian Plain, two days of roller coaster drives along gravelled roads that teetered above fathomless gorges led to the tranquil valleys that once belonged to the Christian kingdom of Armenia. On entering Erzurum, HQ of Turkey’s eastern army, Bill repeated his trick of driving straight through a police checkpoint. Inevitably, this prompted another arrest and military interrogation. The armed guard that escorted the CNPE out of town was only too glad to see the back of us.


A first sub-zero night was spent on the bleak steppe lands of Dugubayazit in sight of Mount Ararat’s 5,165-metre ice cap raised to the sky on massive snow-seamed shoulders which remained visible for the rest of that day. Sacred to Armenians and reputedly inviolable, it was first climbed in 1829 by the German explorer-scientist Frederick von Parrot. The eminent jurist Lord Bryce made its first British ascent in 1876 and in his book Transcaucasia and Ararat (1877) comprehensively demolished Ararat’s ark myth. Those of the deluge persuasion may yet find comfort in recent scientific research, which holds that after the last major glacial retreat a cataclysmic flood caused the Mediterranean to burst through the Bosphorus dam and flood the Black Sea basin.


On the 10 July, the CNPE’s two jeeps and trailers drove triumphantly through a crude archway spanning the road that led into a cramped courtyard before crossing a line in the dust that marked the boundary between Turkey and Iran. On the Turkish side, impassive soldiers stood rigidly to attention. On the Iranian side, those not otherwise asleep, were lounging in the shade of a veranda smoking cigarettes. The ground outside the Iranian customs office was littered with rubbish and the office itself deserted save for a dirty old man squatting in the doorway. He resolutely refused to let anyone across the threshold until Julian offered him a cigarette. He then helped himself to a handful.


An hour later, an unkempt man in pyjama trousers wandered across from the nearby chaikhana and spent the next two hours sealing every object in sight including the steering wheel, though not Keith’s rifle. Evidently, Sir Claremont Skrine’s message to the minister of the interior had not been passed on to the customs authorities at Maku. Relaxing in an atmosphere altogether friendlier than that in Turkey, we drank sweet tea in the village chaikhana and watched women in brightly coloured dresses harvesting the wheat that lay in yellow heaps by the roadside. A tattered old man, his feet trailing in the dust, trotted by astride a scrawny donkey.


Tehran was still 520 miles away and it took another four days to get there. Still dogged by punctures, broken trailer-hooks, makeshift repairs, halts for over-heating and night drives, 206 had to abandon David at the roadside on the final lap to guard its stricken trailer. In the early hours of 14 July a battered and exhausted CNPE regrouped at the British Embassy compound at Gulhak. It had taken twenty-two days to get there.


Seven miles north of Tehran in the foothills of the Elburz, the haven of Gulhak had been the embassy’s summer retreat ever since Nasr ed-Din Shah had presented it to the British in 1862. It was a veritable Persian garden, shaded by plane trees with its ice-cold swimming pool fed by the snows of the 13,000-foot Tochal, Tehran’s sentinel peak. Today, it no longer exists. That same morning, while we were still asleep, His Excellency Sir Roger Stevens, accompanied by his embassy’s entourage, paid the CNPE an official visit. When our flustered and unshaven leader crawled out of his tent in pyjamas mumbling apologies, his excellency graciously invited the expedition to luncheon the following day.


Early the following morning whilst we were still abed, another unexpected visitor arrived in the form of Miss Palmer Smith. An old friend of Sir Claremont Skrine, she had first come to Tehran in 1926 as a governess to the British Minister Sir Robert Clive before moving on to teach English to the children of eminent Iranians. A blustering, warm-hearted do-gooder who had once had influence in some quarters, she was anathema to Sir Roger Stevens as a relic of the ancien régime. Standing stiffly to attention at her side was a young Iranian officer wearing an immaculately creased uniform and sporting a close-cut military moustache.


‘I’m very sorry, and certainly surprised, that you couldn’t find time to attend the party I had organised for your arrival Mr Norton’, began Miss Palmer Smith, giving Bill a withering glance.


‘But never mind that. Let me introduce you to Captain Akbar Ghaffari of the Royal Iranian Army. He’s been appointed as your guide and interpreter during your time in Iran.’


A stony-faced Captain Ghaffari solemnly shook everyone’s hands and then, with an unwavering stare, reeled off his mountaineering qualifications in heavily inflected French. Apparently, he had just returned from a year with the Chasseurs Alpines, the French Army’s crack mountain troops with whom he had climbed most of the Chamonix Aiguilles.


‘And why,’ demanded Captain Ghaffari, ‘as the first British climbing team to visit Iran, have you not done us the courtesy of contacting the Federation Iranienne de la Montagne as have all other foreign mountaineering parties? Our Chairman, Colonel Kachpiss, is very disappointed.’


Oh dear! Bill’s Contacts List had mentioned a couple of Iranian climbers, but none called Kachpiss. After Bill had offered more grovelling apologies, the captain bowed slightly and informed us that a meeting with the federation would be arranged for the following evening. He then saluted stiffly and marched off in the wake of Miss Palmer Smith.


‘What the hell’s all this about?’ demanded Julian. ‘I can’t believe that anyone can really be called “Kachpiss”. Anyway, what is this Mountaineering Federation and who is this Captain Ghaffari? We never asked for a liaison officer, least of all someone who’s damned unfriendly and patently way above our climbing class. No doubt, he’ll try to take the whole expedition over. And who is this Palmer Smith harridan?’


‘Come off it Julian,’ cut in Bill. ‘I’ve already explained to you that she’s an old friend of Sir Claremont’s and knows everyone in Tehran. Just count ourselves lucky we’ve got her to smooth our path. We can’t possibly refuse the federation’s offer of a liaison officer, particularly one who speaks reasonable French and can help square officialdom. Anyway, it’s traditional in this country to have an official ‘greeter and meeter’ so we’d better get used to him.’ From then on, Captain Ghaffari was dubbed ‘The Tiger of Tehran’.


The following day, we had our first decent meal for three weeks at the Ambassador’s Gulhak residence with its polished dining-room table resplendent with gleaming silver and cut glass. Over coffee, Reggie Burrows, the embassy’s first secretary, took Bill aside.


‘A word in your ear, Norton. I have to tell you that the name you have chosen for your undergraduate adventure has already raised any number of diplomatic eyebrows and put some important Iranian backs up.’


‘I’m very sorry to hear that, Sir,’ replied Bill, ‘But why so?’


‘Then let me explain,’ said Burrows sharply.


‘In the first place, your reference to ‘north Persia’ is wholly inappropriate. Iran has been this country’s official name since 1934. The prefix ‘north’ is doubly unfortunate. You must surely have known that the 1907 Anglo/Russia demarche effectively divided this country into two spheres of influence. Russia took over the north, and Britain the south. The Iranians have forever resented this blatant bit of imperialism.’


‘Most unfortunate’, agreed Bill. ‘We did discuss matters of etiquette with our sponsor Sir Claremont Skrine. I’m afraid the issue of nomenclature was overlooked.’


‘Damned certain it was,’ growled Burrows. ‘And I must advise you not to bandy Skrine’s name around here, especially with His Excellency. You should also have made it clear that yours is a Cambridge University expedition. Cambridge on its own could be anywhere. We’ve really had no idea what sort of expedition yours is supposed to be and had you only consulted us at the outset, I’d have suggested you call yourselves the ‘Cambridge University Mountaineering Expedition to Iran’. It would have saved us no end of embarrassment. At least, you’ve brought suits with you and are clean-shaven. Bearded expeditions are never asked to embassy functions.’


That same evening we reported to the Iranian Mountaineering Federation for the fateful interview with Colonel Kachpiss. Captain Ghaffari, one of several officers present, would already have reported to his boss unfavourable impressions of the scruffy, pyjama-clad shower he had met at Gulhak. The colonel was charming with an urbane sense of humour, but when Bill with typical Wykehamist self-deprecation gave a disconcertingly low-key account of our modest climbing credentials, the colonel’s eyes narrowed. It was at this point that he made the patronising enquiry about our climbing equipment that now spurred Bill to come out fighting.


‘Perhaps it might help, colonel, if I were to explain our precise mountaineering and scientific objectives. We would then welcome the federation’s advice and comments. Initially, we intend to concentrate on the Takht–i-Sulaiman group by establishing a base camp in the Hazarchal from which to climb whatever mountains are immediately available. We will then cross over to the north side of the massif to establish a subsidiary camp from which to climb Takht-i-Sulaiman and other peaks. In addition, our two scientists will make botanical and zoological collections for the British Natural History Museum.’


This exposition changed the atmosphere perceptibly.


‘Certainly, the Takht-i-Sulaiman group has the best mountaineering in Iran,’ conceded Kachpiss. ‘But why camp in Hazarchal?’


‘Because Hazarchal is relatively easy to reach by mule,’ replied Bill.


‘Last year’s Franco-Iranian team were unable to take mules any higher than the Sarchal glacier. They then had to carry ten-days’ food and equipment another 1,200 metres higher over four kilometres of glacial moraine to establish their base camp.’


‘But everyone camps on the Sarchal,’ insisted Kachpiss. ‘No one camps in Hazarchal.’


At this, a man with the gnarled face of a mountaineer broke in.


‘Even if it were possible, it would take you at least three days to move a camp to the north side.’


Conversation then became fragmentary, so Bill asked for advice on the cost and availability of mules at Rudbarek. No one came up with any suggestions, so he turned the discussion round to the subject of Orim Niswa.


‘Niswa!’ spluttered the man who had been so dismissive about moving camp. ‘Niswa is a molehill unworthy of mountaineers!’


With that, everyone went quiet until Bill broke the silence.


‘Then perhaps you would be kind enough to suggest some suitable alternative area, colonel?’


After hurried discussion between the Iranians, the Orim expert pronounced ‘You should go to Zardeh Kuh in the Zagros. They are like the French Alps.’


He might as well have suggested the Mountains of the Moon. The Zagros lay hundreds of miles west of Tehran and we knew nothing about them.


‘Unfortunately, colonel, we have neither the time nor the resources to visit the Zagros’ said Bill acidly. ‘Surely there are other parts of the Elburz you can recommend.’


The colonel pursed his lips. The meeting seemed to have reached an impasse. But Bill was not defeated and now rolled out our crumpled, oil-stained set of Survey of India maps. The maze of ill-defined contours representing the Central Elburz looked as bewilderingly opaque as they had done in Cambridge. But Kachpiss was looking thoughtful as his eyes ran to and fro across the phantom ranges.


‘Here you are’, he said at last, stabbing his finger into a tangle of contours. ‘This range to the north-west of Demavend – the mountains of Palur. Several of its peaks are unclimbed and you will certainly need your crampons to tackle their ice ridges. And then, further to the west, there is Azad Kuh, an inaccessible rock pyramid above Shemshak.’


Somewhere at the back of my mind I recalled that Bernard Pierre had mentioned something about Azad Kuh. What a coup if we could climb it!


At 10 p.m. the colonel was getting restive. Until now, Captain Ghaffari had remained stern-faced and silent throughout. Suddenly he melted and flashed us a charming smile.


‘Please call me Aki’, he said. ‘It is short for Akbar.’


The interview was over. As we filed out, Colonel Kachpiss reiterated his advice about avoiding the Hazarchal, but promised that he would arrange a reception for us with the president of the Iranian Mountaineering Federation, His Royal Highness Prince Golum Reza Pahlavi, the Shah’s younger brother.


Bill’s original schedule had allowed only three days in Tehran. But the incidents of the drive from Cambridge had already lost five days and the jeeps had taken such a hammering that a complete overhaul was now necessary. Coupled with the frustrating business of getting additional travel permits and sorting out customs formalities, we remained grounded in Tehran for a week. Bill’s meticulously calculated food budget of £87 1s 5d was also wildly out. Fifteen pounds avoirdupois of rancid goat’s cheese stuffed into an old paraffin tin at the bazaar cost more than it would have done at Fortnum’s.


And Tehran was proving no rest cure. The near-intolerable heat of high summer in that teeming city whose open-street water conduits were used for drinking, washing, refuse disposal and defecation discouraged sightseeing on foot. Nonetheless, both Miss Palmer Smith and Reggie Burrows generously threw us cocktail parties and we duly attended Prince Golum Reza Pahlavi’s palace reception, besuited and with fresh haircuts. Surrounded by a posse of high-ranking generals, HRH (unkindly described as ‘blubber lips’ by some embassy wag) made an effusive speech of welcome ‘to the first British mountaineering expedition to visit Iran’. He then pinned metallic Iranian flags on to our lapels as we stood smartly in line at attention. When a discomposed Colonel Kachpiss arrived a tad late, Aki whispered gleefully, ‘This afternoon, colonel will be major!’


Solomon’s Snows


Zoroastrian cosmology placed the 600-mile-long Elburz Mountains at the heart of the Hara Beresaiti, the universal range then believed to encircle the earth where Ahura Mazda, the supreme deity of the Persian Achaemenians, revealed the truth to Zoroaster. The Central Elburz is a fifty-mile-wide band of parallel ranges averaging 3,500 metres in height constituting a formidable barrier between the Iranian Plateau and the Caspian provinces with few natural passes as both Alexander the Great and invading Arab armies discovered to their cost. Our own journey to our road head village of Rudbarek, a mere 100 miles north-east of Tehran, would have taken a week had it not been for Reza Shah’s Trans-Elburz highway built at immense cost during the mid 1930s.


The advance party of Bill, David, Keith and Aki left Tehran in SXB 206 early on 19 July. Delayed by last-minute repairs, SXB 205 following late that evening and spent a miserable night in the open, caught out by an unexpected rainstorm. The road across the Elburz followed the general line of an ancient caravan track winding through eroded spurs of baked brown earth with tiny, green oases embedded into the hillside to mark the sites of hamlets hidden amidst thickets of plane, poplar and walnut. Higher up, it twisted through a labyrinth of jagged, desiccated ridges. Higher still, it hugged the edge of a dizzying gorge.


The temperature-gauge needle had long gone off the clock when, at 9,000 feet, the road appeared to vanish into a black hole set in the mountainside. This, the Kandevan Pass tunnel marking the Elburz watershed, was unlit with water bucketing-down from its arched roof. With barely enough room for a single vehicle to pass and with no operating signalling system, we took a chance that no one was coming the other way. Twenty breathless minutes later, we emerged like Alice at the other end of the tunnel to find ourselves in another world. Gone were the cloudless skies, the crystalline light, the searing heat, the parched earth, the dust devils, and boundless horizons of the Iranian Plateau. We had reached the ancient kingdom of Mazanderan where the Persian hero Rustum fought his epic battles; from whose forests Hyrcanian tigers were exported for gladiatorial combat in the circuses of Rome; and in whose mountain fastnesses Hasan-i Sabah, the ‘Old Man of the Mountains’, founded the notorious sect of the Assassins. Everything around was a luxuriant green and enveloped in mist. From far below came the deep boom-boom of a waterfall. Julian’s brake-jamming, spiralling descent down the hairpin bends of a precipitous gorge to the swollen Chalus River was a white-knuckled ride with the din of the rain drumming down on the jeep’s tin roof drowning out the roar of the torrent.


Forty kilometres on, a side road with a barely visible sign marked ‘Kalardasht’ led to a low pass overlooking a cloud-filled plain. Somewhere away in its south-west corner lay Rudbarek, the village which at Cambridge had seemed as remote as Shangri La. As the rain redoubled, the road deteriorated into a track of treacly mud flanked by deep, water-filled ditches.


‘This can’t possibly be right’ protested Julian. ‘We must have missed a turning some way back.’


After man-handling the trailer to face about, a sinister figure in a black skull-cap and felt coat with pointed shoulders bound up with string emerged from the gloom. Surveying us like a great bat with folded wings, we shouted out to him ‘Rudbarek?’ and pointed down the track. He shook his head vigorously and indicated that the correct way was where we had just come from.


Just outside Rudbarek, 205’s engine stalled and for the next half hour blocked the road to prevent an Iranian Army lorry-load of good-natured huntsmen from passing. The village was like nineteenth century alpine Switzerland, with its deep-eaved chalets built of horizontally laid logs capped by pitched roofs tiled with limestone slabs. Beyond it, a boulder-strewn track ran for another mile beside a foaming river before terminating at a clearing backed by a wall of rock. From two familiar tents set in a quagmire, there emerged the bedraggled figures of Bill and David, reuniting the expedition’s two halves for the first time in twenty-four hours.


‘We got to Kalardasht okay last night’, explained a weary-looking Bill.


‘But we couldn’t see a damned thing in the fog and after taking a wrong fork fetched up outside the Shah’s hunting palace at midnight. And then, if you can believe it, His Excellency, Reggie Burrows and Co. arrived in a fleet of Land Rovers early this morning for the weekend. His Excellency had to wake me up once again in my pyjamas. It’s never stopped raining since we got here. However, the good news is that Keith has raised our profile by winning a local shooting competition and Aki has arranged for a mule-train to be here at dawn tomorrow.’


When Aki arrived, two hours later than promised, it was still raining. In his wake came fifteen mules and a gang of muleteers dressed in patched-up Reza Shah ‘western’ suits and shoes soled with tyre-treads. Their shop steward, a dour, heavily built man who we dubbed ‘Brown Hat’, was already giving Aki trouble.


‘Boll, this man says that the best mules have been taken by those soldiers’, complained Aki. ‘He says we will need more mules.’


‘But surely, I thought that everything was agreed last night?’


‘Yes Boll, but the muleteers are angry. You want to camp in Hazarchal, but no expedition ever camps there. The Sarchal Glacier camp is seventeen kilometres away and can be reached in two days. Hazarchal is twenty-seven kilometres away and will take three days. That is why they want more mules and more money.’


Bill was having none of it and after more argy-bargy the mule train was reduced from fifteen to ten and the muleteers to eight. Even so, John Hunt’s strictures about porterage were proving correct.


While loading commenced, Aki and I went down to the village to buy vegetables, a sack of bread, dried beans and peas, and a box of dried trout. Also, at Aki’s insistence, a dozen chickens. He detailed the Headman’s youngest son to find them and within minutes the lad was back with a gang of scruffy urchins each carrying a squawking fowl tucked under the arm. Twelve were chosen and promptly beheaded. As their headless bodies careered around in a ghoulish death-dance, a crowd of onlookers howled with laughter.


The CNPE’s advance party eventually got moving at mid-morning up the ancient trade route that had once linked Kalardasht to the Plateau. Since made obsolete by motor transport, it was fast being encroached on by rampant bracken and giant nettles. The trough of the valley was flanked by a dense deciduous forest of oak, ash, beech, walnut, elm, hornbeam and hawthorn growing to a prodigious size. Aki’s stream of anecdotes about man-eating leopards and bears with a penchant for raping local women was only interrupted when two bearded men humping outsize rucksacks came bounding down the track. Grinding to a reluctant halt after Aki had hailed them, they were about to move off when, after a peremptory hand-pumping introduction, I ventured, ‘Who are you; where are you based and what climbs have you done?’


‘We’re members of this year’s Franco-Iranian expedition,’ replied the younger man in English.


‘We’re camped on the Sarchal and we’re about to climb the North Wall direct. It’s never been done before, but blizzards have covered it in snow and ice. And this is Minassian,’ he continued, turning deferentially towards his older companion. ‘He has climbed the North Buttress!’


Minassian? I vaguely remembered the name as one of the Iranian climbers on Bernard Pierre’s 1954 expedition and would have liked to have a chat. But the great man was gazing into the middle distance, self-absorbed and totally disinterested.


‘Why are you going down?’ I persisted. ‘I hope no one’s been injured.’


‘No one injured, but we’ve got to get more mules and food from Rudbarek. We’ll be staying on for another ten days, so we’ll see you up there.’


‘Maybe, but we’re going to be based on Hazarchal.’


‘Hazarchal!’ he cried, throwing up his hands. ‘You can’t camp there. No one camps in the Hazarchal!’


I was about to ask him why, but Minassian had already recommenced his furious descent. His companion followed at his heels without another word.


The forest was fast giving way to scattered clumps of sycamore, dwarf oak and juniper. A griffon vulture perched on a rocky scarp not far above and my headache signalled that we were gaining height. At Vanderbon, a stone-built chaikhana sited on a grassy flat at the treeline, Aki, Bill and I waited for the rear guard to catch up over a bowl of curdled goats milk, or mast. Vanderbon marked the junction of the Sardab and Barir rivers where the paths divided. One went up the Barir Rud to the Sarchal Glacier and the other up the Khorrumdasht to Hazarchal.


‘Those wretched mules kept throwing their loads, and that damned Brown Hat’s been dragging his feet all the way’, snorted Keith as the rear guard straggled in.


Brown Hat complained to Aki yet again about having to camp in the Hazarchal, but Bill swiftly closed the argument. The caravan had only made twelve kilometres, yet no one complained about camping early that day near the army party who were expecting a good bag of ibex and moufflon the following day. At 2,400 metres the air chilled quickly as evening drew in and suddenly, for the first time in four days, the mists began to clear. Impossibly high above, ragged streamers flew off the Elburz’s soaring crests suffused with gold from the dying sun.


Next morning, the Sardab Rud was fringed with ice that soon melted as the sun dissipated the Caspian mist. The hunters were long gone by the time Aki got the mule-train moving. Bill, pale, pinch-faced and clearly unwell, had to ride mule-back with his legs brushing the ground. Five kilometres higher up, on the scree-strewn slopes of the Khorramdasht, an accident and emergency halt was called at the deserted caravanserai of Tanakrud. Bill insisted that his condition was the result of eating some exotic fruit that Aki had given him the previous day and rejected my pills. The muleteers were more easily impressed by the sight of the medicine chest and after dispensing placebos, I dressed a mule with an ugly chest-wound with disinfectant, boracic ointment, plaster and a flourish of the forceps.


It was clear that the wilting Brits were going no further that day so Aki took command: ‘Tonight, I make you all supper. Iran has cuisine like France.’


Two hours later, he produced a stew of chicken, millet, split peas garnished with limes and swimming in vegetable ghee. Feeling altitude sick, I surreptitiously dumped mine on the scree. Others persisted and paid the price later on. That night, while we shivered in our down sleeping bags, the muleteers slept in nothing but their felt cloaks, or ‘shaulars’.


By the following morning, Bill was on the mend but Aki’s stew had done for David who now took his turn mule-back. The sun was already high when we passed the soldier-hunters stretched out on a grassy knoll shouting encouragement as they breakfasted off fresh moufflon steak. As the valley narrowed and the track disappeared into a snow-filled gorge, the mules began to struggle and Brown Hat began to gesticulate wildly pointing to his eyes, head and legs. He must have done this journey a hundred times, so I ignored him. Glancing back for a last look down the Khorramdasht, the Sarbad Rud had become a twisting, silver ribbon fast disappearing beneath a wall of mist creeping up the valley.


I can never forget that first view of Hazarchal, the ‘Place of a Thousand Hollows’. Its glittering snowfields and incipient alpine meadows encircled by spiky peaks and a clutch of tiny glaciers made that precious moment the realisation of a dream. The old trade route now continued southwards, snaking upwards before losing itself in a massive snowfield and then emerging at a notch on the skyline ridge that marked the 4,000-metre Hazarcham, the highest navigable pass between the Atlantic and the Hindu Kush. Our own route swung away to the north-west into the upper reaches of the Hazarchal where Bill had decided to establish base camp.


Heaving and panting, head throbbing and with a blinding headache, I sat down on the grass for a breather and glanced down the valley.


‘Bloody hell Bill! D’you see what’s going on down there? Those wretched muleteers are offloading the baggage!’


Together we raced down the ground so hardly won to find Aki arguing furiously with Brown Hat.


‘Boll, this man says that his men have already done an extra day’s work because you Ingliz were ill and had to stop at Tanakrud. He refuses to go on any further.’


‘But we must get at least a thousand feet higher than this,’ insisted Bill. ‘We’d lose hours of climbing time every day if we have to camp down here.’


Brown Hat refused to budge. Some of the muleteers reloaded reluctantly, but then quit halfway leaving two plucky twelve-year-olds to hump the fifty- pound collecting boxes up the last stretch. After Aki had paid off Brown Hat with the threat of imprisonment if he wasn’t back within sixteen days, the old rogue slumped off, complaining bitterly. Only one small, rather spindly muleteer elected to stay behind.


‘What is your name?’ asked Keith.


‘Saphar Ali Negani,’ he replied with a winning smile. We could not have done better.


Set on a green knoll amidst a pattern of snow-covered moraines at 4,064 metres, Base Camp Hazarchal seemed ideally sited. But the listless Ingliz were making heavy work of just erecting their tents and it was Aki, radiating energy, who knocked up supper for those who could face it. With the meal barely started, Saphar suddenly let out a shout and pointed excitedly to a moraine ridge fifty metres away. At first, I thought it must be a stray cow until Julian yelled out ‘Christ, it’s a bloody great bear!’


Silhouetted against the darkening sky, the great beast sniffed meaningfully in our direction. Everyone dropped to the ground infantry fashion as Keith scrabbled around for his rifle and Aki unholstered his revolver. The bear stared at us, no doubt as surprised as we were, and then moved off soundlessly. After a decent interval Aki, Keith and Safar gave chase, but it had already vanished leaving only the imprint of its saucer-sized paws in the snow. Teeth chattering in the unaccustomed cold, Bill’s yarns of lammergeiers attacking Alpine shepherd boys were comprehensively capped by Aki’s more graphic tales of his encounters with leopards, panthers and bears.


The first morning in camp brought some unwelcome surprises. The melt- streams that had flowed so freely yesterday had frozen solid overnight and the dried trout which had been buried deep in the snow were already rotting after the briefest exposure to the sun. One of the food boxes which had been ‘repacked’ by the muleteers at Rudbarek now contained nothing but salt and vegetable ghee. Aki’s precious ‘alimentation pour les montagnes’, a mixture of raisins, sultanas, dried mulberries and a delicious confection of almonds, sugar and saffron, had vanished. We were left with a surfeit of tinned sardines, ship’s biscuits and nuts: the last things you need to assuage a high mountain thirst.


Only Aki was up to climbing anything that day and after lunch pointed to a prominent rock peak overlooking the camp.


‘Boll, that is Gardune Kuh, an aiguille like in Chamonix. No one has yet climbed it. I will be the first!’


With that, the Tiger of Tehran strode purposefully towards its scree-strewn base while Bill wandered off to do some sketching and I retired to the tent that he and I shared to nurse a headache. Soon after, I spotted a large bear moving purposefully in Bill’s direction, so crawled out of the tent and began gesticulating frantically at Bill. He took not the blindest bit of notice as the bear ambled past him before loping effortlessly up the screes below Gardune Kuh like a huge dog.


Retreating to the tent, my reverie was again interrupted by a fusillade of shots. Minutes later, Aki came bounding down the screes before skidding to a halt still clutching his smoking revolver.


‘What happened Aki?’ we chorused.


‘A very lucky escape’ said our hero, breathing heavily. ‘I was climbing that mountain – trés difficile. Vultures mobbed me, but I drove them off with my revolver. Only then did I see a great bear hiding in the shadows above me. Allah is merciful! Those birds were warning me of mortal danger. I climbed down at once, thankful to be alive. Allah be praised!’


We could only marvel at this superman who had effortlessly organised the food at Rudbarek; sorted out the bolshie muleteers; and done all the cooking to date. Now, he alone was pushing a new route and defying ferocious animals while we weedy Brits sat around in a stupor.


‘Tomorrow,’ declared Aki, his chest swelling visibly, ‘we will all climb Alam Kuh! Yes, Keith and Bruce too. The whole expedition together!’


I was still feeling rotten, yet even a cursory look at Alam Kuh’s whale-back ridge persuaded me that its ascent should not pose many problems. The mountain had already been climbed several times from this side ever since two Austrian botanists, the Bornmueller brothers, had made its first recorded ascent in 1902. Nonetheless, the prospect of bagging it clearly excited Bill as he gazed summitwards.


‘It’s supposed to be well over 16,000 feet high,’ he enthused. ‘Quite a bit higher than Mont Blanc. The 3,000-foot climb from here to the top should make a good acclimatisation exercise. What’s more, from the Lana Col just below the summit ridge we should be able to see whether there’s a feasible way down to the North-West Glacier.’


Next morning, Aki shot into the lead and was soon a distant black dot set against the glacier’s dazzling-white backdrop. The obvious route to the Lana Col lay up a prominent snow couloir at the head of a narrow glacial cwm above the camp. Neither Keith nor Bruce had ice axes so elected to make their own way to Alam Kuh’s summit up the immense screes that covered its southern flanks. Following in Aki’s wake, I was puzzled when he struck out halfway up towards an ill-defined rock ridge. On reaching the Lana Col, he was nowhere in sight. Surely, I thought, not even the Tiger of Tehran could have reached the summit, over a thousand feet higher, that fast. I waited for Bill to join me.


‘Whatever’s happened to Aki, Bill?’


‘He’s coming up behind’, he replied stiffly. ‘Can’t understand it. He somehow managed to get himself stuck on that rock ridge and I had to give him a top rope.’


Foregathered on the Lana Col, the North-West Glacier was clearly visible below as was the ‘western extension’ that Bernard Pierre had enthused about and which we now identified as the Haft Khan Ridge.


‘But how the hell do we get down on to that glacier?’ asked David. ‘It’s a good 1,500-feet below and I can’t see any run-out. I reckon Busk was right. It looks damned-near impossible.’


‘That simply has to be our route’ said Bill. ‘I can’t see how there can be any other.’


The rest of the climb to Alam Kuh’s summit was a mere scramble along a shattered ridge. Bruce and Keith had no trouble in joining us and at 2 p.m. on the 25 July the whole expedition posed for a group photograph perched on a jumble of precariously balanced granite blocks. It was to be the only time that we all stood on an Elburz summit together. Little of the Elburz was visible above the Caspian’s all-enveloping cloud sea, save for the elusive Throne of Solomon which now lay at our feet. Triangular in shape with its scree-strewn flanks riven by snow couloirs, it didn’t look that impressive. But to get there was going to be problematic because it was separated from Alam Kuh by a line of sheer granite cliffs and a five-kilometre-long glacier that snaked away before disappearing round its eastern spur.


Next day, despite the curious incident on Alam Kuh, Aki was the obvious man to spearhead the assault on Gardune Kuh seconded by Bill and David. Julian and I would follow behind on a separate rope while Keith filmed proceedings. Aki’s furious attack on the first pitch, an awkward chimney, sent down a shower of rocks that scattered everyone below. An hour later, Julian and I were still waiting to get started at the bottom of the climb.


‘What the hell’s going on up there?’ muttered Julian. ‘David is wedged under an overhang, but what’s happened to Aki and Bill?’ We climbed up together to investigate.


Twenty metres above David, Aki and Bill were exchanging French unpleasantries in the narrow chimney.


‘What’s the score, David?’ I shouted up to him.


‘Aki and Bill are having problems,’ he replied wearily. ‘Aki refused to belay Bill after the first pitch. Apparently, he was never taught belaying techniques by his bloody Chasseurs Alpins, so Bill’s been trying to teach him on the job. They’ve come to a grinding halt. Time is running out, so I suggest we waste no more time and all go down.’


As it was now too late for anyone else to press their suit we did just that.


Next morning, Julian and I were the only takers for a second attempt on Gardune Kuh’s virgin couloir. Until now, my only real rock-climbing experience had been on a CUMC novices meet in north Wales wearing clumpy nailed boots. Our expedition boots were soled with the altogether more effective cleated-rubber ‘Vibrams’. But climbing helmets were still a new-fangled luxury and modern aids such as nuts, bongs, bolts, wire slings, wedges and such like were strictly for the avant garde. Security techniques were also rudimentary. Waist-loops did for climbing harnesses and ‘run-outs’ (the distance between the leader and his second) could be the length of a 120-foot rope, or 240 foot at full stretch. Thus, if a leader ‘came-off’ on a long run-out then, even if his second was securely belayed and managed to hold the fall, the consequent physical damage could maim or even kill.


At least we’d brought along a couple of pitons, the iron pegs used for belays that Alpine Club traditionalists still frowned on as artificial, unethical and un-British. I had never used them before.


Beyond Bill’s high point, the gulley steepened to the near vertical. I hadn’t spotted a single rock belay on the way up on which to attach a rope sling for security. Now, at the business end of a 120-foot run-out with no stances on which to rest, I found myself off balance and in danger of swinging into space. Grabbing a piton, I hammered it into a crack. The rock promptly disintegrated on impact sending chunks of shale hurtling down the gulley. They would have decapitated Julian had he not wedged himself under a protruding rock lip and stuck his rucksack over his head. Somehow, I willed my body to adhere to the rock and, after frantic fumblings, banged in the second piton as my legs began to shake uncontrollably. This time, it went in with a reassuring crescendo of ‘ping, pings’. I grabbed it desperately and then hung on until my breathing slowed to near normal. After securing myself with a karabiner and sling, I shouted down to Julian to start climbing. He led through without a word, clambered over my shoulders and showered down more rubbish in his wake. With my rucksack planted firmly over my head, I took a perverse pleasure listening to dull thud of rock impacting inches above my skull.


Four hours after starting the climb, Julian and I emerged at the top of the gulley quivering like jellies only to find David sunbathing on the summit.


‘What took you two? Bill and I found an easy route up the mountain’s backside. We’ve been hanging around for hours.’


‘Then where’s Bill got to?’


‘Look down that ridge,’ said David, pointing to a distant figure striding away into the middle distance.


‘He’s determined to bag that scrappy-looking peak, Gormara Kuh, to make it his second first ascent of the day.’


I gazed down the ridge and then to our camp, a cluster of grey specks set in a tiny patch of green surrounded by retreating snowfields. To the south lay an entirely different world of desiccated, skeletal ranges rising and falling like waves to a horizon blurred by heat haze.


Gardune Kuh had marked a watershed. I had always assumed that Julian and I would make a good climbing partnership, but somehow, we hadn’t clicked and never climbed on the same rope again. For Aki, Gardune Kuh had exposed the limitations that his good-natured braggadocio had first concealed. Later that evening he confessed to Bill, ‘Vraiment, je deteste les montagnes!’ Over the past two days, the swashbuckling ‘Tiger of Tehran’ had suffered a catastrophic loss of amour propre. We all shared the warmest feelings towards this sensitive and intelligent man who was to remain a stalwart companion for the rest of our time together. But never again did he climb with us. We had overestimated his ability and he, perhaps, had underestimated ours. Bill’s self-effacing presentation at the Iranian Mountaineering Federation and our early feeble showing had taken him off guard and might have been interpreted as typical British perfidy. Our fault was a naive ignorance of the subtleties of the Persian character and its trait for embroidery and exaggeration. We’d have done a lot better to have read Haji Baba of Isfahan before coming out to Persia.


Next morning, the sound of gunfire roused me from our tent. A moufflon was careering down the mountainside with Keith and Safar in hot pursuit. The animal collapsed within a couple of hundred metres of the camp.


‘A lucky long shot’ said Keith modestly, as he and Safar hauled its carcass in. ‘Safar and I were up at dawn and spotted a herd high on the hill.’


Safar cooked its liver for a breakfast that never tasted better. This also turned out to be our last decent meal together for the next fortnight as later that morning Keith, Bruce and Safar set off on a four-day naturalist safari south across the Hazarcham Pass. With them went something of the party’s cohesion and fun. Their absence also complicated the logistics of establishing a subsidiary camp on the North-West Glacier and shortened the time we might have spent there.


It was decided to make this crucial crossing to the north side of the massif in two stages. First, by establishing an advance cache of food and equipment on the Lana Col and then, when Keith and Bruce returned, carrying the rest over the col and down to the glacier. David and I led the way up the now-familiar snow couloir to the Lana Col, while Bill and Julian decided to bag a couple of peaks en route by traversing the Lana Ridge. After dumping our loads, David and I peered down the ridge and were disconcerted to see Bill and Julian stuck fast on the top of a gendarme. Clearly, we were in for a long wait.


‘As you might have guessed,’ explained a morose-looking Bill two hours later, ‘we had our problems. While trying to negotiate that wretched gendarme I fell twenty feet, luckily into soft snow. Julian followed me, but failed to secure his rucksack properly. It rolled all the way down to the Hazarchal glacier, so he’s had to go down to retrieve it. He won’t be coming up here again today.’


Back at base, Julian was all gloom and doom.


‘The rock in these bloody mountains is absolutely lethal. If it’s all like this, I can’t see much point in staying on. Maybe we should cut our losses and leave a few days earlier to explore those mountains that Kachpiss was banging on about.’


‘Come off it, Julian’, retorted Bill. ‘I’m sure we’ll find plenty of decent rock once we get across to the north side.’


To fill in time while Keith and Bruce were away, all four of us climbed the long, indented ridge of Siah Sang Kuh to Siah Kaman Kuh’s virgin summit. The naturalists returned a day early having journeyed south with a mule caravan laden with rice and salt and then spent two nights with black-tented semi-nomads collecting snakes, lizards, butterflies and flowers. Unfortunately, Keith had picked up a bug on the way, so Bill’s load-carrying schedule had to be recast.


On 1st August, everyone save Keith left base camp together humping loads that included Bill’s outsize bedding roll/sleeping bag and a couple of Keith’s flower presses. On reaching the Lana Col, there was no sign of Julian or Aki.


‘What the devil’s happened to them?’ I asked Bill.


‘No idea. But Bruce and I can’t hang around here. We’ll dump our loads and get back to camp for my second carry. See you later.’


I stuck around for half an hour, but with still no sign of Julian and Aki decided to go it alone. Stuffing most of the cached tinned food into my rucksack, I then strapped my rope, spare clothing and Bill’s bedding-roll on top of it. The only possible way down to the North-West Glacier was by the scree couloir we had inspected tentatively six days before. It had no visible run-out, but having got so far, I thought ‘What the hell, let’s give it a go!’


Once launched, there was no way back. The descent down unstable scree of varying sizes and consistency was like riding the surf. Sliding and slipping with the rucksack repeatedly throwing me off balance, I careered downwards wildly out of control to where the couloir narrowed into a gulch. Here, what looked like a solid boulder shot from under me and triggered a rock avalanche fore and aft. Clinging desperately to a protruding spike of rock, I watched helplessly as several-thousand tons of stone roared past within inches of my boots. As the avalanche gathered strength, it scoured its way down the couloir leaving in its wake clouds of dust and the acrid smell of brimstone.


It was either me or Bill’s bedding role. I hurled the wretched thing down the couloir and yelled with delight as it took a small hop and a step before bouncing from side to side all the way to the bottom. Seventy-five minutes after leaving the Lana Col, I reached the North-West Glacier bruised, shaken and exhausted. Dumping my load on a level bit of moraine, I stared up at Alam Kuh’s near-vertical west face. Had I really come down that way? It looked absolutely lethal.


I took a short rest and then steeled myself for a second carry. The ascent was harder than the descent. For every upward step, I seemed to slip two back. Halfway up, I passed Julian and Aki gingerly descending a parallel couloir.


‘What the hell happened to you two?’ I shouted across to them. ‘I thought we were supposed to be doing this carry together?’


When Julian shouted back, ‘We had to spend the morning trying to find my bloody rucksack!’ I didn’t bother to reply.


Back on the col, the sun was already sinking behind the Haft Khan ridge and a sharp wind had sprung up. Suddenly, I felt completely drained and began to shiver uncontrollably. It was too cold to hang around for Bill and David and so, after shovelling the last load into my rucksack, I began my second descent. It was even scarier than the first. Bill and David breezed in close on my heels at 7.30 p.m. unflurried and unconcerned.


‘Glacier Camp’ on the North-West Glacier’s moraine consisted of the mess-tent’s tarpaulin cover propped up by tent poles. Not wide enough to fit in all five of us, I bagged the annexe formed by a groundsheet. For the past six weeks, I had shared a tent with Bill. His camping manners were impeccable, but his size fourteen boots made for an uneasy relationship and were mainly responsible for the multiple punctures sustained by his air mattress. As darkness fell, a deadening chill descended. The pressure cooker had blown up in Austria and at over 4,000 metres the punctured Primus stove barely functioned. Even so, cold corned-beef hash and half-cooked macaroni never tasted better.


Next morning, 2 August 1956, while breakfasting on the corned-beef remnants and the standard ration of four ship’s biscuits, Bill reminded us that on this very day we were scheduled to climb Solomon’s Throne. Leaving Aki to guard the camp ‘against bears’, we trudged a kilometre down the glacier and rounded Alam Kuh’s north-east spur. Dead ahead, Takht-i-Sulaiman rose stark from out of its glacial moat. Only the eye of faith could have compared this scree-scarred pyramid to the Weisshorn, yet its surroundings were grand and as we crept along the base of Alam Kuh’s intimidating north face towards the indented ridge that linked it to Takht-i-Sulaiman, I felt a sense of awe.


The crest of this connecting ridge was broken by a shapely little peak, Chane Kuh, whose summit gendarme yielded the most enjoyable climb of the expedition. Wedged near the top of the crux crack was a weathered wooden peg: a relic perhaps of Bobek’s 1936 German expedition? The rest was merely a scramble. The Germans had reached this elusive summit twenty years earlier, as doubtless had many inquisitive shepherds done before them, but ours was surely a British first. To the north, a green sea of undulating ridges drifted away to the Caspian. To the south, Alam Kuh’s four-kilometres long, 800 metres-high north face was split by two predominant features: the great rock buttress first climbed by the Germans and the hanging glacier that Bernard Pierre had called ‘The Ice Curtain’. It was a magnificent spectacle, but had our journey been worth it?


Ludwig Steinauer who had led the first ascent of this North-East Buttress typified the national socialist sturm und drang tradition having previously made a string of extreme ‘firsts’ including the north-west face of the Dent Blanche and the fourth ascent of the Central Spur of the Grandes Jorasses, then regarded as the ‘last great problem of the Alps’. By naming Alam Kuh’s buttress ‘The Persian Jorasses’, he had given his seventeen-hour climb an inflated reputation. Only the upper section looked really difficult and I pondered then, as I did for years to come, why we never quite had the bottle to attempt it. Yesterday’s ‘last great problems’ become today’s classic routes. In 1963, Richard Isherwood and Henry Day, members of another Cambridge expedition, climbed the buttress in five hours and gave most of it a IV grading. Leyla Pope, a former president of the Cambridge Mountaineering Club, has since rated it an easy day for ‘veiled Iranian ladies’.


Back at Glacier Camp, Aki awaited our return with hot soup, biscuits and coffee. Now indispensable to team morale, his good-natured bewilderment at the antics of the Ingliz had defused the ‘butter battle’ triggered by Julian’s insistence that his butter and biscuit ration should be given him as a lump allocation rather than have it rationed at each meal like the rest of us. Over supper, I belatedly remembered that this was my twenty-second birthday. Next day, the four of us set off to do the first traverse of Haft Khan’s indented granite ridge. It flattered to deceive, for once past two modest gendarmes, only Julian bothered to complete it. Back in camp, I pressed some flowers before taking to my sleeping bag with shooting stomach pains. That night, I dreamed that we were climbing an Alam Kuh of Himalayan proportions. When I slipped off a knife-edge ice ridge, I woke up shouting and gasping for breath.


Time and food were now running out. On our last full day at Glacier Camp, Julian and Bill climbed a fine granite buttress coming off the Haft Khan Ridge. I only felt well enough to write up my diary; ponder on what might have been, and watch a succession of avalanches thundering down the same couloirs we had descended only four days before. David and Aki had spent a more constructive day investigating a less hazardous route back to Hazarchal. As the sun sank behind the Haft Khan ridge, we squatted round the spluttering stove for our last supper at Glacier Camp. Away to the north, the fires of shepherds showed up as pin pricks of light against the darkening hills.


The journey back over the glacier’s headwall was easy and would have saved us the double carries and the dangerous route by which we had come. Base Camp was now barely recognisable with banks of yellow flowers and white-blossomed thistles occupying what had been snowfields. Keith, Bruce and Safar had already left in search of Daku, the mysterious village inhabited by what Freya Stark had described as ‘fierce and primitive Jungalis’. That afternoon, two shifty-looking shepherds armed with antique rifles dropped by and grudgingly accepted Nescafe, aspirin and Elastoplast in lieu of ‘camping dues’. When Aki purposefully unholstered his revolver and told them to push-off, they sloped away like dogs denied their dinner.


Evenings were always best at Hazarchal for by then the Caspian mists had melted away and the sun lost its bite to shed a softer light on the pale, grey ridges that stretched away eastwards to the ghostly cone of Demavend. On our last evening, wisps of cloud appeared for the first time and a cold wind blew in from the east. At dusk, a lone muleteer arrived to say that the mules were waiting at Tanakrud. Next morning, it was entirely predictable that ‘Brown Hat’ should try to swing an additional 300 rials for his having to spend an ‘extra’ night there. When Aki beat him down to 100 rials, I asked him how he did it.


‘Simple’, replied our intrepid soldier. ‘First, I will be offensive. If that doesn’t work, I will strike the man down. Finally, I will threaten him with my revolver.’


As the mule train wended its way down Hazarchal, now bright with flowers and sparkling streams, I glanced back for one last look at what had once promised to be our delectable mountains. Deserted when we first arrived, the valley was now alive with shepherds, bleating flocks and ferocious guard dogs. When Aki picked up a young goat and cradled it in his arms, I took a quick photograph on impulse, overcome with nostalgia.


The naturalists’ return to Rudbarek coincided with our own. They had had no trouble locating Daku and had been warmly received by the ‘Jungalis’, So far so good, but when Julian and David eventually located SXB 205, the battery was flat and both towropes had disappeared.


‘More to the point’ said David ‘we weren’t able to buy any food. All the village shops are shut because Kalardasht is under curfew and martial law.’


Aki’s version of events was more colourful.


‘There was a terrible massacre while we were away. The headmen of Rudbarek and Hasankeif had a quarrel and 400 men began a fight. Four have been killed. Now, anything might happen!’


Nothing did, but life at Kalardasht was not like that in the Swiss cantons. Its inhabitants, mainly of Kurdish stock, had been forcibly resettled from their northern Zagros homeland at the end of the eighteenth century by Agha Mohammad Khan to stabilise this unruly corner of his kingdom. Long since, they had abandoned their national tongue, but not their cultural identity, feudal way of life, or Sunni religious affiliations. Generally monogamous, their unveiled women played a prominent part in community life. Marriageable girls, traditionally dressed in white head scarves, pleated skirts with trousers, brightly-coloured smocks and gay waistcoats jingling with trinkets, were courted not allocated. Fighting and brigandage, once the principal male preoccupations, had given way to farming, logging, and hunting and much less fun.


The headman of Rudbarek was the village’s main landowner and tribal chief. A patriarch of powerful personality and impressive girth, he boasted of his lands, forests and mines and introduced us to two of his five sons, dressed in dark double-breasted suits together with a selection of his daughters. No favours were offered, but when he complemented Bill for our not molesting the village women, our leader’s normal sangfroid deserted him. When the word got around, my morning dispensary was overwhelmed. I dished out aspirin, placebos and Elastoplast to casualties of the Rudbarek/Hasankeif fracas, but was helpless in the face of the malignant growths, trachoma and the serious illnesses that were so common in these parts. When a young woman presented me with a tiny child covered in septic sores, I spent half-an-hour simply cleaning off ingrained grime before applying antiseptic dressings.


Receding Horizons


No one was more reluctant to leave the mountains of Takht-i-Sulaiman on 10 August than Keith and Bruce for they had collected a valuable range of unusual flora and fauna and forged a close friendship with Saphar. My own feelings on leaving this enchanted corner of Iran were mixed. Mazanderan’s viridescent forests; the kilometres-long glaciers that some embassy wiseacre had dismissed as non-existent, and the villages that would not have been out of place in Switzerland had come as unexpected wonders. For all that, the mountaineering had been disappointing with only some minor first ascents and one testing crossing to show for it. Admittedly, the rock around Hazarchal was lethal, but we had baulked at the challenge of the Alam Kuh’s buttress through lack of confidence and experience. Maybe Kachpiss’s mountains of Shemshack and Palur would offer new fields to conquer, but somehow I doubted it. From Hazarchal, the only snow mountain visible to the east had been Demavend, over a hundred miles away.


And although we weren’t to know it at the time, those days round and about Solomon’s snows were to be the most memorable of our Persian Expedition. Other adventures lay ahead, but from now on events took a predominantly downhill trajectory. It was Aki who first signalled the decline at the Chalus/Tehran turn-off.


‘I’m sorry Boll, but I must leave you now. I’m hitching an army lorry to take me back to Tehran.’


‘But Aki, you can’t possibly be leaving us now,’ spluttered Bill, for once losing his composure.


‘I’m sorry Boll, but I must rejoin my regiment.’


The consequences of losing Aki, now an integral part of the team, seemed unimaginable. Bill reasoned and cajoled, but Aki would not be moved.


‘A bientôt, Aki’, we chorused as each of us pumped his hand. ‘We’ll all meet up again in Tehran once we get back.’


‘Yes indeed my friends,’ replied Aki. ‘I promise to show you the sights of my city and you will be welcome at my house as honoured guests.’


That night, 205 and 206 rolled into the dimly lit streets of Chalus and after bumbling around, eventually found somewhere to camp beside a murky creek. The Caspian’s hot and humid shore makes a perfect breeding ground for flies, giant earwigs, scorpions, leeches, snakes and every other kind of pest, as well as malaria and cholera. Plagued by mosquitoes at night, my morning wake-up plunge into its brackish waters left my feet lacerated by sharp rocks. And having assumed that we would be able to cash travellers cheques in Chalus, I now experienced a much sharper shock as expedition treasurer. After spending an entire morning negotiating exchange rates with the manager of the town’s only bank, he eventually admitted that only in Tehran would this be possible.


Our cash was almost exhausted and although Tehran was only a hundred miles away, in no way would the jeeps have been able to recross the Kandevan pass from this steeper side of the range. After two days of vacuous potterings along the Caspian with little to show for it save for the capture of a rare tortoise in the pressure cooker, we took the much longer route back to Tehran over the Gaduk Pass. This frustrating three-day journey became another catalogue of boiling radiators, multiple punctures, written-off tyres and broken trailer- towing hooks which reached its climax twenty miles short of Tehran when 205 had to be abandoned at the roadside leaving 206 to make a solo dash to catch the Bank Melli fifteen minutes before it closed for the four-day religious holiday of Muharram.


The Caspian idyll had lost a week, leaving only a fortnight before the start of the 5,000-mile-long homeward journey – assuming always that the jeeps would last that long.


‘I suppose we might as well take a serious look at Kachpiss’s mountains in Shemshak and Palur,’ said Bill, as we sat on the curb outside the British Embassy in Tehran disconsolately sipping tepid Pepsi-colas. ‘We’ve really no other option.’


There was, in fact, another option staring us right in the face in the shape of the 5,670 metre near-extinct volcano Mount Demavend. However, as Bill had originally dismissed it as a mere ‘tourist mountain’ we hadn’t considered it further.


‘But where exactly are Kachpiss’s mythical peaks?’ asked David.


The tattered Survey of India map, rolled out yet again, clearly showed a village called Shemshak barely twenty miles due north of Tehran set in a valley surrounded by mountains.


‘I don’t think much of that as an area for exploration,’ growled Julian.


‘The map shows several mines in the area with a road leading up to them. The MEF would have a fit if we made that an objective. What about Palur? It’s about fifty miles further east very near Demavend and surely more promising.’


We plumped for Palur with no set plan in mind and on 15 August camped at nearby Abigarm, a pretty village with flat-roofed, mud-walled houses set amidst poplars, orchards and tiny fields. Famous for its hot mineral springs, its single street was thronged with holidaymakers up from Tehran to celebrate Muharram, the sacred Shi’a festival that commemorates the death of the martyrs Hassan and Hussein. That evening, the atmosphere darkened as a chanting procession of men with black banners marched through the village beating their bare breasts, rending their hair, and flagellating their backs with chains.


No one really knew quite what to do next, but the following morning the sight of Demavend freshly covered in snow revived interest in climbing it.


‘What about the east ridge that Bernard Pierre’s party did a couple of years ago?’ I suggested.


‘Surely we’ve got to be a bit more original than that,’ replied Keith.


‘A week spent exploring the mountains of Palur would much better fulfil the expedition’s scientific programme.’


The issue remained unresolved until we bumped into the member of the Franco-Iranian expedition that I had met above Rudbarek.


‘How did it go?’ I asked him. ‘Did you climb the north wall?’


‘Absolutely not!’ he replied. ‘Much too dangerous. We scarcely got off the ground.’


‘What are you doing here then?’ I persisted.


‘We were hoping to climb Demavend’s north-east face. But just to get anywhere near it involved a two-day approach march with mules. We then had to carry loads for another 4,000 metres higher to establish a base camp. The face is protected by 1,000-metre-high ice cliffs so we abandoned it.’


‘What about the east ridge?’


‘That’s also a very serious climb which can’t be done in under a week and you’ll need good weather.’


Even allowing for Iranian hyperbole, that clinched it.


Before the Mongols laid waste these lands, the highlands of Palur had been a stronghold of Larijan’s mountain warlords. Nearby, was the Lar Valley itself, once a highway for caravans that plied their trade across the mountains to the Caspian coast. According to the map, this ancient track passed by a place called Kushak, some thirty miles away, set plumb in the middle of the range and therefore a perfect base from which to explore the surrounding mountains. To ensure a seamless start, we made a preliminary recce that morning to identify the entrance to the Lar Valley. At the bridge that crosses its river, a familiar figure was standing besides an Embassy Land Rover with two others.


‘Glad to see that you’re still with us,’ grinned Reggie Burrows after waving us down. ‘Where’ve you been all this time?’


Bill gave him a résumé of our adventures.


‘At least you’ve got this far,’ smirked Burrows. ‘News of your exploits has filtered back to the embassy. You know my wife Jenny of course, but you won’t have met Hugh Carless. He’s a proper mountaineer just back from climbing in Afghanistan.’


At this, a suntanned younger man, immaculate in a tailored bush-jacket, stepped forward to proffer the hand. Confident in the camaraderie of the hills, I asked him what he’d been climbing.


‘Just a short walk in the Hindu Kush,’ he replied dismissively without the glimmer of a smile. ‘We were hoping to bag Mir Samir, but didn’t quite make the summit.’


Two years later, Eric Newby’s classic A Short Walk in the Hindu Kush described the brave attempt that he and Carless made to climb the virgin 19,880-foot peak of Mir Samir. Carless, the pukka, politically-correct Foreign Office sahib, is portrayed as Newby’s foil and the book closes with Wilfred Thesiger’s immortal put-down as he watches the intrepid pair blowing up their airbeds, ‘God, you must be a couple of pansies!’


‘We’re nipping up Demavend tomorrow so we’re here to arrange mule transport,’ continued Burrows.


‘Perhaps we might camp together tonight?’ suggested Bill.


‘No question of that I’m afraid,’ replied Burrows. ‘We’re driving back to Tehran this afternoon and will be back tomorrow at the crack of dawn for an early start.’


For the rest of that day, we prepared ourselves for a ten-day trek into the remotest Elburz cutting rations down to the nearest lump of sugar.


‘This time, we’re going to make do with only two mules and one muleteer,’ said Bill after he and Keith had returned from a lengthy muleteer-hunting quest in Abigarm.


‘Luckily, we’ve found just the right man. He’s called Hussain and has promised to be here tomorrow at 7 a.m. sharp.’


Hussain, heavily-moustachioed and gap-toothed, wore a shabby western suit with a brown skull-cap that disturbingly resembled Brown Hat’s. He fetched-up an hour late and promptly took his lead from a rascally French-speaking shopkeeper who had already broken his earlier agreement to guard the jeeps for a fixed price, by doubling his. At this, Julian suddenly lost his cool.


‘I’m damned if I’m going to be blackmailed by these rascals. We shouldn’t pay them a rial more than what’s already been agreed. And I’m all for scrapping mules altogether. We can surely carry our own kit and food for a few days.’


Left to himself, Julian would have done just that. Fifty years on, his determination, self-sufficiency and technical skills were exactly the qualities that enabled him to complete a twelve-year, round-the-world, single-handed odyssey in a tiny junk-rigged yacht tracking Darwin’s original Beagle voyage. This time, Bill persuaded him to forego hair-shirt heroics.


After a bad-tempered loading session, Hussain led the way up a bleak valley enclosed by desiccated hills devoid of either shade or vegetation. The map didn’t seem to tally with the ground, but far away to the north, a line of jagged peaks broke the familiar pattern of rolling ridges.


‘Must be Kachpiss’s mountains,’ said the ever-optimistic Bruce.


Heading up a side valley, we came upon a black-tented encampment where a garrulous old man riding a donkey tagged along uninvited while his veiled wife trotted along besides. Our packs were heavy and no one complained when, towards evening, Hussain called a halt near a spring occupied by an Iranian Army party and several burly American officers. Ensconced in luxurious bell tents with six servants in attendance, they were mighty pleased with themselves for having bagged two ibex and a wild boar. Perfunctory greetings over, they ignored us and tucked into juicy, he-man-sized steaks. Hussain scorned our offering of corned-beef hash and slid off to feast on richer pickings.


Assured by the Yanks that there were no snow mountains at the head of this valley, we set a new course westwards the following morning. Hours later, on rounding a bend, a neat cluster of tents appeared on a greensward with a uniformed functionary standing nearby.


‘What is this place?’ Bill asked the man.


‘This is Yurt-i-Khan,’ he replied. ‘The British Embassy’s summer camp.’


‘I just don’t believe this,’ spluttered Julian, chucking down his pack.


‘We must have started up the wrong valley yesterday, doubled back on our tracks today and gone round in a circle. I could murder this bloody Hussain!’


The British Embassy’s Lar Valley camp had been a summer haven for British diplomats even before Beresford Lovett had written in 1883, ‘The Lar plains … have been so often described that it is unnecessary to say anything more about them.’


Hussain grumbled that there was nowhere else to camp higher up, but we pressed on regardless. Picking up pace through the narrowing valley, the river had to be forded several times before it widened out again into a broad plain dotted with black goatskin tents. Suddenly, without warning, the sky became overcast with dark, scudding clouds and within minutes a rainstorm had soaked us to the skin. The day dragged on until the sun began to sink behind a line of distant hills, which, in the faint afterglow, appeared as a snow-streaked range.


‘At last!’ exclaimed Bill triumphantly. ‘Kachpiss’s fabled mountains!’


It was long past dusk when Hussain turned off into another side valley near the ruins of an ancient caravanserai. Stopping at a level patch of grass, he peremptorily unloaded the mules indicating that in no way was he going a step further.


‘What is this place?’ asked Bill.


‘It is called Saphid Arb,’ he replied defiantly.


We paid him half his hire with the promise that he’d get the rest, provided he was back within seven days.


The camp at Saphid Arb, the Place of White Waters, was 10,000 feet high, surrounded by bleak mountains and consisted of six poncho capes tied together with string and guyed by ice axes. Within shouting distance lay the main encampment of the Shahsavan, ‘Followers of the Shah’, who like the Kurds of Kalardasht had been resettled by Agha Mohammad Khan in the nineteenth century from their homeland on the steppes around the great volcano of Kuh-i-Sabalan in Iranian Azerbaijan. Reza Shah had seen the tribes and their way of life as a threat to his power so used the army to bludgeon them into submission by forced resettlement and imprisonment, executing those chiefs who resisted. After his abdication many tribes resumed their semi-nomadic way of life, but with their cultural and political influence significantly weakened.


The hillsides around were dotted with flocks of sheep and goats shepherded by fearsome dogs whose masters controlled them with shouts, whistles and yodels. A young shepherd boy stopped by to play a merry tune on a pipe fashioned from a metal tube. The headman invited us to tea in his spacious, white bell tent, incongruous amidst the traditional goat-hair variety. Squatting awkwardly cross-legged on a splendid red and purple tribal carpet, we sipped tea through sugar lumps served in delicate glasses from an ornate samovar. Bill and Keith’s attempts at conversation made me regret my failure to persevere with Mr Khan Shad’s lessons in Farsi at Cambridge. It was left to the headman’s son, sporting a Tony Curtis haircut, to keep the chat stuttering on in broken English.


This louche young man was spending his summer holidays here with the family, though he normally worked in Tehran as a cinema projectionist much preferring the city lights to a semi-nomadic existence. Motor transport had destroyed the modest prosperity that the lucrative caravan trade passing through Saphid Arb to the Caspian had previously provided them and the once extensive juniper forests that had formerly clothed these hills had long ago been cut down for charcoal. Tribal life followed a changeless pattern. The flocks were shepherded by day and then rounded up every evening before being driven into horseshoe-shaped, dry-stone-walled enclosures where the men sat astride low stools and grabbed each animal as it passed and milked it on the spot. The women, unveiled and wearing brightly-coloured tribal dress, poured the milk into animal skins attached to a triangle of upright poles to churn the curds that formed the tribe’s staple diet. Another of their tasks was to gather the spiny, thorn bushes that were used for fuel both to cook and dye wool in huge, blackened cauldrons placed over shallow trenches filled with hot embers. This work and child rearing apart, theirs was an immutable round of wool washing, carding, dyeing and weaving to make clothing and tentage. The tribe’s only source of income derived from the colourful tribal carpets woven on horizontal looms and sold to Tehran dealers for a pittance.


By now, it was clear that the expedition’s exploratory progress was in danger of grinding to a halt. To regain momentum, Bill dispatched recce parties to fix the precise location of Kachpiss’s mountains. By the evening of the second day, only he and Bruce had anything significant to report.


‘Did anyone else notice that isolated peak at the western end of the ridge marked on the map as Bareseng Ashter?’ said Bill. ‘I reckon it must be over 14,000 feet and could well be our mystery mountain.’


When the map was produced, Julian remained unimpressed.


‘I didn’t know that we were looking for any mystery mountain in particular. Anyway, according to the map this one’s a thousand feet lower and at least sixteen miles away. It’s also almost due north of Shemshak, so what the hell are we doing here? To get there and back would involve a round-trek of over thirty miles and at least 4,500 feet of ascent and descent during the heat of the day!’


‘We could always start at midnight,’ suggested Bruce brightly.


‘Good idea!’ said Bill. ‘We could be there and back within sixteen hours.’


After sleeping on it, the Baresang party narrowed down to Bill, Bruce, Keith and me. Four and a half hours on, we had reached the far end of the Lar Valley without seeing anything of interest save a herd of moufflon. Another two-hour slog up execrable scree took us on to Baraseng Ashter’s ridge from where Bill’s peak was faintly visible as an indistinct bump at its far end. The ridge’s seemingly endless crests and troughs kept losing hard-won height and the sun radiating off the clinker-like shale scorched my eyes even through dark glasses. When Keith and Bruce sensibly packed it in at 1 p.m. I would happily have followed suit. But by now Bill was away on his own and out of earshot. I followed in his wake harbouring uncharitable thoughts.


At 3.15 p.m. nine hours after leaving Saphid Arb, a final scree scramble led to the heap of rubble that marked Baresang Kuh’s summit. A moraine-strewn cwm occupying its north-east flank might once have housed a small glacier, but otherwise there was nothing to distinguish this shattered summit from a hundred and one others that capped the crumbling ridges of the Elburz. A rough cairn with a weathered wooden plaque bearing an inscription in Cyrillic confirmed that its first ascent had already been made by the Russian cartographers who surveyed the Elburz earlier in the century. I discovered later from the authoritative Russian Moscow Atlas (1954) that Baresung Kuh’s height is 4,363 metres, or 14,175 feet, so Bill’s estimate was almost spot on, as had been his timing for the round-trek. When at 10.30 p.m. that night, we stumbled into Saphid Arb with blistered feet and bleeding toes, Bill didn’t bother to answer Julian’s question, ‘Where on earth have you been Bill?’


With summer fast giving way to autumn, our time at Saphid Arb had run out as it had for the Shahsavan. Long before dawn, the advance guard of their extended caravan was making its way down the valley bound for their winter quarters on the plains south of Tehran. The heads of the lead camels were bedecked with red and yellow tassels and their necks were hung with jingling bells. The imperious young tribeswoman riding astride a cushioned saddle with a fine carpet trailing down her camel’s flanks might have been a Tartar princess. It made a splendid spectacle, but the reality of these annual migrations is anything but romantic. Bound by the rhythm of the seasons and captive to extremes of weather, these hardy people’s livelihood depended entirely on their flocks and scanty pastures. Save for carpet weaving, invention and art had no place. Raiding and brigandage, once a raison d’être for the younger bloods, were no longer options. Migration might be an adventure, but at the end of each journey, nothing remained except ‘an immense, traditional resignation’.


Hussain had sworn to be early. In his place, a callow youth with a reluctant mule turned up three hours late. The boy was so clueless that David and I took over the loading, leaving the others to push on ahead. A mile down the track by the ruined Basteh caravanserai, the mule bucked and shed its load scattering pots, pans, cutlery, jerry cans, cookers, flower presses and ropes into the dust. A group of loafers lounging outside hooted with laughter but raised not a finger to help. Eight hours on, after three more load-sheddings and two river crossings, we called it a day at the British Embassy’s camp. Here the muleteer ran off without a word and when he reappeared next morning, it was too late for the planned early start. He then lost the way, turned truculent and bolted towards a scruffy settlement. Braving a pack of dogs, we ran him to ground but he refused to budge. His chosen substitute was even more hopeless than he was so we summarily dismissed him after half an hour. At Palur, Hussain was anxiously awaiting our arrival. The reluctant muleteer turned out to be his son.


For the sake of the CNPE’s credibility, it was now agreed that we should all climb Demavend. This, the highest mountain between the Atlantic and the Hindu Kush occupies a special place in Iranian legend as the site of Noah’s Ark and the abode of the heroes Jamshid and Rustum. Here too, Yasid bin Jigad, the Persian Prometheus, was bound in chains to have his liver devoured daily by an eagle. Deep inside its volcanic crater, the giant Zohak, imprisoned by the hero Feridun, still exhales his noxious sulphur fumes.


The thirteenth century geographer Yakut had already recorded several local ascents before that of a twenty-four-year-old Scot, William Taylor Thomson, who reached its summit in 1837 when Demavend’s height was estimated at over 21,000 feet. It has since been reduced to 18,597 feet. The normal route is no more than an exhausting slog, but the weather can be capricious and dangerous. Steinauer’s 1936 German party was hit by three severe blizzards within the space of a week, one of which lasted for twenty hours.


On the strict time schedule we had set ourselves, the only way to climb Demavend was to dispense with an intermediate camp and start at night. At 10.45 p.m. on 27 August, the six of us stumbled up a rough track on the outskirts of Rehneh in thick mist and blundered into a hamlet where we had to beat off a pack of dogs with volleys of stones directed by torchlight. In the confusion, we lost the path. Two hours later, the cloud lifted to reveal, impossibly high above, the white cone of Demavend luminous in the moonlight. Below lay a wave-tossed cloud-sea – cold, immobile and impassive. I shivered uncontrollably when at dawn we stopped for breakfast to force down hard-boiled eggs, sardines and chocolate and then retched the whole lot up.


By 6 a.m. the sun was dazzling and the sky intensely blue. With a thousand metres still to go, seams of black lava gave way to gleaming snowfields interspersed with fantastic towers of sulphurous, yellow rock. For the next six hours the climb assumed a surreal quality. Stopping for breath every fifteen steps and vomiting at intervals, I had to fight off an almost irresistible yearning to lie down and go to sleep. The sunlight was blinding, yet it remained intensely cold with the wind blowing in fierce gusts. Drunkenly, I followed up a broken rib of yellow rock almost asphyxiated by nauseous puffs of Zohak’s sulphurous breath and after collapsing on a heap of scree fell fast asleep.


On waking, I vomited again but felt better. Ahead and above, two figures were silhouetted on what I assumed must be the summit. One was definitely Julian and the other was surely Bill. Rousing myself for a final effort, I joined them fifteen minutes later only to find that Bill was in fact David. Bruce, plodding steadily behind, came in next with Bill shortly after. The roof of Iran was a shallow, snow-filled crater fringed by ochre rocks covered in graffiti, miscellaneous placards and rubbish. Diaphanous clouds floated by like phantoms out of an inky-blue sky. Below, billowing up from a colossal gulf, cumulus clouds closed and parted. The descent felt like the dreamland and twenty hours after starting, five of us reassembled at the road head. Keith had somehow got detached on the way down, but turned up halfway through supper having had to walk several extra miles.


The sensible thing would have been to crash out then and there. But the prospect of Tehran’s garages closing over the weekend led to the near-catastrophic decision of driving straight through to Gulhak that same night. When I fell asleep at the wheel and drove into the mountainside, the impact burst another good tyre. If I’d veered just a little the other way, we’d have gone over a precipice. That crazy night drive turned out to be a wasted effort for it took another week to get the jeeps repaired. This time round, our reception in Tehran was less than enthusiastic. Mr J.B. Ventham, BP’s chief in Iran, and his charming wife were exceptionally hospitable. But the diplomatic ramifications of our ‘North Persian’ tag rumbled on. Reggie Burrows’s farewell party was cancelled ‘unavoidably’, and Miss Palmer Smith’s promised invitation to meet some ‘Persian ladies’ never materialised. A popular tale doing the rounds was that the CNPE had stumbled on to the embassy’s Lar Valley camp after being lost for several days. However, there was still the prospect of a grand reunion with Aki to look forward to, though perplexingly, there was no message from him at the embassy. Bill traipsed off to the Mountain Federation’s offices to find out what had happened to him and eventually tracked down Colonel Kachpiss.


‘I must offer you and your friends my warm congratulations,’ said the colonel. ‘Captain Ghaffari has already given me a glowing account of your exploits which have been well covered in our local newspapers. However, I must inform you that our Iranian team traversed the Haft Khan ridge a few days before you did. I do hope you are not too disappointed.’
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